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BACKGROUND

1.  Incorporated in 1996 under the Companies Act Cap 
 42:05  and governed by a Memorandum and Articles of 
 Association.

2.  The Memorandum and Articles of Association was 
 revoked  in 2011 then BAC adopted the Constitution  
 under the new  Companies Act Cap 42:01 (it is a 
 company limited by guarantee).

3.  The guarantors/shareholders of the company are:
	 •		 The	Botswana	Government
	 •	 Debswana	Diamond	Company	(Proprietary)	Limited
		 •	 Botswana	Institute	of	Chartered	Accountants	(BICA)

4.  The primary objective was to train Batswana qualified 
 professional accountants due to the  shortage of 
 the accountancy skill at the time. We have since evolved  
 to offer variety of business programmes.

5.		 The	institution	is	governed	by	a	Board	Directors 03
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STRATEGIC PARTNERSHIPS

BPP
PROFESSIONAL
EDUCATION

O N L I N E  C L A S S R O O M
A P P R O V E D  R E S E L L E R
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OUR
 SHARED 
VALUES

VISION

MISSION

EXCELLENCE  
Pursue and maintain high quality standards that are
globally recognized

COLLABORATION
Working in partnership with others to create, produce
and grow

INNOVATION
Promote new idea creation for impactful change

TO BE A LEADING BUSINESS 
SCHOOL OF CHOICE THAT 

TRANSFORMS LIVES IN 
AFRICA AND BEYOND

TO ADVANCE KNOWLEDGE AND 
SKILLS IN BUSINESS EDUCATION 

THROUGH TEACHING AND 
LEARNING, RESEARCH AND 

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT
 TO MEET THE NEEDS OF

 THE ECONOMY

INTEGRITY
Uphold high ethical and professional conduct in 
our engagements

ACCOUNTABILITY
Accept, own and complete duties within authority and 
take responsibility for actions

HUMILITY
Embrace diverse ideas and opinions whilst serving 
with respect
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DR SHABANI NDZINGE
BOARD CHAIRMAN

The Board of Directors of Botswana University 

College of Business Sciences trading as Botswana 

Accountancy College presents the Annual General 

Report for the year ended 31st March 2020. The 

financial year 2019-2020 was a very successful year 

although it had not been without its challenges. 

The Board is happy to report however, that the 

College continues to deliver on its core mandate 

in terms of the teaching and learning outcomes; 

and remain sustainable as a business.

Operating Environment

The College continuously repositions itself in 

response to the market environment which 

includes policy considerations, regulation, 

economic factors, industry trends and increased 

competition. Notwithstanding the prevalence 

of these factors and in particular Government’s 

reduction in spending and the reduction of 

students’ sponsorship across our programme 

offering, the business posted a profit, notably 

lower than in the previous reporting period. 

This has been made possible through concerted 

effort to identify opportunities to innovate, adopt 

risk management strategies to continuously 

identify and manage enterprise wide risk.

Corporate Strategy

The year under review marks the last but one year of 

a five-year strategy period to 2022. The Corporate 

Strategy has undergone two reviews over the 

period to align the business operations with the 

ever evolving market and regulatory environment; 

and to address emerging risks that otherwise 

have the potential to disrupt  business continuity 

and the overall strategic outlook of the College. 

Performance Highlights

The College continues to experience tremendous 

growth, in terms of its product offering to 

accommodate the ever-increasing and diverse 

market requirements and to  facilitate accessibility 

to learning through other learning platforms 

than the conventional face to face delivery of 

learning. In this regard, the existing strategic 

relationship with IBTC and Skills Network 

could not have been more opportune as the 

College has transitioned to the blended mode 

of learning by introducing online learning for 

accounting professional programmes and looking 

to introduce additional programmes online. 

Towards the end of the financial year in March 

2020, the college experienced a lockdown 

because of government’s precautionary measures 

to prevent the spread of the COVID-19 virus. 

The management then introduced working from 

home and remote learning support for students 

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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to complete their academic calendar and also to manage the impact 

of the COVID-19 pandemic given the safety and health protocols 

around social distancing; and also accommodate technological 

advancements in the area of learning. To support the blended mode 

of delivery of teaching and learning the Board had taken a strategic 

decision to issue laptops for all students studying at the College.

The College has during the period, identified and entered into 

Memoranda of    Understanding with a number of stakeholders, with focus 

around employability of our graduates, innovation and entrepreneurship. 

As at January 2020, the College recorded a Gross Enrollment Rate of 

4290 compared to 3995 students in the prior year across all four schools; 

covering undergraduate, professional and post graduate programmes. 

The increase in the number of enrollments brings about the urgent need 

to develop the College infrastructure to address space requirements 

as well as to address BQA regulatory requirements around class/

student ratio and students teacher ratio and to enhance the teaching 

and learning experience at the College by providing first class facilities. 

The Board has approved a partnership model towards the development 

of Plot 61922 Gaborone and the parties are at contracting stage, 

with the development expected to take 12 months to complete 

from start date. The College continues to explore partnerships in 

the market and sustainable business models towards infrastructural 

development of the institution to address the institution’s growth 

needs, particularly in relation to students accommodation 

requirements and in line with the College Development Master Plan.

Risk Management

In the discharge of its mandate, and in compliance with good corporate 

governance principles and other governing framework, the Board 

manages all prevailing and potential risk, that is likely to have a negative 

impact on the development and growth of the business. A broad-based 

approach to risk is pivotal towards the growth and sustainability of an 

institution; hence the need to embed risk in the day to day  management 

of the business. 

The Finance and Audit Committee provides an advisory role to the 

Board, in managing the identified risks of the College. Focus is on 

the top ten identified risks and the development of implementation 

plans towards mitigation of the risks. The Board also makes sure that 

Management is provided with the necessary resources to ensure that the 

planned initiatives to mitigate the risk are met. 

During the period, the Board approved several policies to 

mitigate gaps in the internal control environment, to improve 

the operating environment and thereby reduce risk as well as 

respond to new regulatory requirements in the academic space.

The regulatory environment remains a key focus area for the Board and 

the business. The Board continuously apprises itself with developments 

in the market to ensure compliance. As the regulatory environment 

has changed, the College equally positions itself to fully comply. 

The Board is happy to report that the institution is  accredited as an 

Education Training Provider (ETP) by the Botswana Qualifications 

Authority (BQA) and efforts to acquire accreditation of our product 
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offering, including short courses and some Masters’ Degree 

Programmes for current and new programmes is ongoing.

Stakeholder Engagement

As part of delivering on the Corporate Strategy, the Board 

ensures continuous community engagement to enhance 

existing relationships, create new partnerships and improve 

visibility of the brand amongst the communities within which 

the College operates and promote sustainable partnerships in 

the delivery of the core mandate. This becomes possible by 

being receptive to feedback on the challenges faced by the 

communities in terms of our delivery of the College mandate 

and being an integral part of the communities’ development 

and growth agenda.  

To align with the Francistown City Council positioning of 

Francistown as a software City/Business Hub (Gateway) to 

the North, the College had progressed initiatives to position 

Francistown as a preferred Centre of Learning and in that 

respect has established a Skills Centre for innovation and 

entrepreneurship.

Expression of Gratitude

On behalf of the Board of Directors, and on my own behalf, I 

thank all our stakeholders, amongst others, the Board  Members, 

the student community, employees, collaborative partners 

and the community for your dedication and commitment to 

growing one of the best brands; comparable with some of the 

best in the world. 

We thank you our stakeholders for your unwavering support 

in the pursuit of excellence towards the provision of quality 

education and training; as we strive to contribute to the 

development of an economy that is self-sustaining through 

impactful research, innovation and entrepreneurship. 

Let us all move forward undeterred by challenging times and 

remain more resolute in the delivery of this very noble task of 

transforming lives through teaching and learning.

 

 

 

Board Chairman
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1. Executive Summary 
BAC started the year 2019/2020 with enthusiasm 

and vigour premised on the preceeding 

successful year. This year was abounding with 

new developments, projects, changes, and 

improvements across board. 

We welcomed new employees in both the 

academic and support services, new Board 

Members and forged new strategic partnerships 

and strengthened existing relations with 

Government, industry, and communities. We are 

therefore excited at these opportunities and we 

commit to continue cultivating these relationships 

for us to mutually deliver on long lasting impact 

for the benefit of our students and our societies.

Throughout the year, we have been persistently 

growing and discovering new and innovative 

ideas of enhancing our operations. This year was 

also full of many firsts for the institution and these 

will be highlighted throughout the report.

  

2. Strategic Review and Implementation Status
It has been a tradition for BAC to review its 

institutional strategy annually to align with the 

dynamic education environment we operate in.  

The review of the strategy after the first two years 

ensured linkages and alignment between the 

academic and support services teams to achieve 

the goals and mandate of the institution. Much 

emphasis was placed on the renaming of the 

institution using the registered name Botswana 

University College of Busines Sciences, a project 

that is anticipated to contribute to the expansion 

of the institution locally and internationally and 

preparations are already underway. 

Other strategic initiatives included enhancing 

the student Teaching Excellence and Student 

Learning Experience, Research and Innovation 

and Infrastructure Development and Optimization 

and digitalization of the campus to cater for 

the expansion of the institution and improving 

operational efficiencies. 

a. Teaching Excellence and Student Learning 
Experience
One of the key highlights for the year is the 

first students visit from the Sheffield Hallam 

University on a student exchange meet the  Go 

Global initiative which saw 45 students and 4 staff 

members from the partner university visiting BAC 

over two weeks. The students were treated to the 

BAC teaching and learning experience, cultural 

experiences in areas around Gaborone including 

a visit to the Tlokweng Kgotla, Botswana Craft, 

Gabane Pottery, Bahurutshe Cultural Village, CBD 

Three Chiefs Monument, and a game drive and 

adventure at the Mokolodi Nature Reserve.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR’S REPORT

MS SERTY LEBURU
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
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The Class of 2019 graduation ceremony was celebrated with flair 

and style as twenty-two first classes were conferred amongst the five 

hundred and thirty undergraduates, a first for BAC in terms of academic 

excellence. The Valedictorian also emerged as a multi-talented top 

seed student who was the best overall student in Finance and Banking 

and received a 12 months  4mbps internet band prize sponsored by 

Botswana Telecommunications Corporation Limited (BTCL), was involved 

in school and social projects and also a third winner during the second 

BAC Student Start-up Competition the Investment Battlefield. He won 

the first Sheffield Hallam University Scholarship to pursue a Masters’ 

degree offered in partnership with the University. 

The 4th Industrial Revolution is upon us and we need to embrace new 

technology and changes that come with it. A public lecturer featuring 

Mr. Hendrick von Steel popularly known as the father of the 4th 

Industrial Revolution was held at the main campus. The guest shared 

a comprehensive presentation on the revolution and highlighted that 

Botswana has the capabilities to use some of the technologies considering 

the available resources, skilled and experienced professionals, and 

human capital development programs.    

BAC entered into a 5-year Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) with 

Safari Destinations, a travel management company which creates travel 

experiences through working with travel agents around the world by 

preparing travel itineraries for their clients who wish to holiday in Botswana 

and Zimbabwe. This provides an advantage for BA (Hons) International 

Tourism Management students to gain the requisite experience required 

in the tourism industry through attachments, internship, and permanent 

employment. BAC students will benefit from guest lecturing on graduate 

- placement initiatives, training, and employment opportunities. 

Safari Destinations  alsos support BAC curriculum development initiatives 

to prepare students for the tourism industry. BAC has other Memorandum 

of Understanding with other stakeholders across different sectors of 

the industry for the provision of student internships, employability and 

character building.  

School of Business & Leisure lecturer Ms Kelebogile Kenalemang 

accompanied by four BA (Hons) International Banking and Finance 

students,  Ms Kgopiso Tibe, Ms Mmapula Sedie, Ms Kelello Nkwe 

and Ms Thuto Obuseng attended the annual Child and Youth Finance 

International (CYFI) Summit and Global Awards held in South Africa. 

The CYFI is a Financial Education and Inclusion Non-Governmental 

Organisation which works to provide children and youth around the world 

with access to financial services, enhance their awareness of economic 

rights, empower them to build their assets, invest in their future and 

ultimately break the cycle of poverty. 

The theme for the summit was “Economic Citizenship and Employment: 

A future for all’. According to CYFI, children and youth should have access 

to bank accounts, develop entrepreneurial skills and most importantly 

believe in themselves in order to break the cycle of poverty in their 

families and improve their livelihoods because poverty has enduring 

effects on people, their communities and their countries. 

An Association of Accounting Technicians (AAT), Level 4 – Professional 

Diploma student Ms Wanano Chose Mabongo, currently studying at the 

Francistown Campus was nominated for the AAT Student of the Year 

Award at the AAT Training Provider Annual Awards. She was one of the 

four candidates who were shortlisted for this award and emerged the 

second best on the list and the only one from Africa. 

The BAC Debate Society hosted the Southern African Universities 

Women Open Debate Championships (SANUDC) 2019 at the BAC Main 
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Campus in Gaborone. The mandate of the tournament consisting of 

only female participants, is to create a safe debating space for women 

in Southern Africa outside of the influence of their male counterparts. 

It is on this platform that women in debate are given the opportunity 

to discuss and come up with resolutions that mostly affect them and to 

draw up equity policies that help in making debating for solutions more 

accessible to women in Southern Africa. This year, the participants were 

from Botswana, South Africa and Zimbabwe. 

b. Staff Experience (The People Agenda)
The college  has made great strides in the development and capacitation 

of employees both in the academic and support services. Some employees 

were sponsored to pursue their Masters’ and Doctoral degrees during the 

year as part of the plan to build the institutional capacity and educational 

skills of the lecturers to align with the institutional plans and goals of 

transitioning into a University. In addition, other employees attended 

conferences and seminars for continuous professional development, 

updates on new curriculum changes, upgrades in teaching methods and 

new trends in the academic field. 

HR introduced departmental team building and retreat sessions as part 

of staff welfare which allowed departments to engage in out of office 

activities to strengthen relations and better understanding of team 

dynamics. 

Three lecturers from the School of Business and Leisure won the 

Inspirational Lecturer Awards nominated by the students, an annual 

initiative by the Sheffield Hallam University where students get to 

nominate a lecturer who impacted their learning experience even 

beyond their academic achievement during the year. These are Mrs Alice 

Njoroge, Mrs Cynthia Chakahwata and Dr Wilbert Mutoko.

c. Infrastructure Development and Optimisation
An innovation and entrepreneurship centre was established and opened 

at the Francistown School of Computing and Information Systems centre. 

The centre hosts students working on innovative academic and industry-

based solutions under the supervision of their lecturers. It is through this 

centre that BAC will continue to partner with industry and government 

for development of ICT skills and solutions that can contribute to the 

enhancement of the businesses and lives within the communities we 

operate. 

To enhance teaching and learning, the ICT team increased the  bandwidth 

to improve service provision and access to BAC network services by 

employees and students while on and off campus. A digitisation strategy 

has also been developed which will lead to the evolution of BAC into 

a SMART campus once complete where systems and services will be 

integrated to provide seamless student learning experience and great 

efficiencies in service delivery. 

To enable implementation of process optimisation, an Integrated SIMS/

ERP System project was started to facilitate automation of processes 

to improve reporting and efficiencies in service delivery. The project is 

ongoing and once complete, it  will enable seamless data capture and 

mining of students records and improved turnaround times across the 

institution. 

d. Research, Innovation and Entrepreneurship 
The School of Computing and Information Systems hosted its First 

International Conference on Leveraging ICT for Sustainable Development 

in partnership with the University of Sunderland. The conference was 

hosted to grow the ICT portfolio of the institution by engaging industry, 

students and academic on the new trends and opportunities to contribute 
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to the development of the country. 

On the students front, a student in the School of Computing and 

Information Systems, Mr Kesego Mokgosi a second year BSc (Honours) 

Computer Systems Engineering became the first Motswana to win the 

Google Developer Student Leads (DSC) and become a DSC Lead. He is 

now one of the 5 leads in Southern Africa and 100 in Africa. Mr Kesego 

Mokgosi together with a fellow student Mr Tumo Kgosiyame, a Year 3 

Computer Systems Engineering student, participated on the Botho 

University Hackathon Competition held in partnership with the Clemson 

University (USA). The duo worked on a solution called Project Anton 

which emerged as the Overall Winner of the Hackathon Project.

 

Project Anton is a deep learning (Artificial Intelligence) image 

classification platform which recognises plants (tomatoes and maize) 

diseases and recommends the most viable treatment while also providing 

real time visualization and analytics data through a dashboard. They won 

Chromebooks and were given an opportunity to be part of the Africa 

Hacks Incubation Program. 

Ms Sedie B Kemoabe, a BA (Hons) International Finance and Banking 

student started a company in partnership with her sister called SHEDOL 

Fragrances & Cosmetics. The body range was launched at the 2019 

annual Botswana Youth Expo.  The range is all natural and handmade 

locally within our borders, inclusive of body lotions, body scrubs and 

body soaps. Based on the presentation of their stall in general and 

the product range, they won 2nd position in local manufacturing and a 

P10,000.00 cash prize by the Ministry of Youth and Economic 

Empowerment.  

In partnership with the Botswana National Museum and Art Gallery 

and the University of Derby with whom we offer International Tourism 

Management degree program, we hosted the first High Tea and 

Tea Party for stakeholders to celebrate our cultural heritage themed  

“Connect, Inspire for Growth” to engage on opportunities to transform 

and translate Cultural Tourism into another avenue for economic 

diversification for Botswana. The Vice Chancellor of the University of 

Derby did  a presentation on the importance of exhibiting culture through 

serving traditional cuisine at various local tourist attraction venues. 

e. Financial Sustainability
The management and team put significant efforts and measures in 

place to ensure that a positive financial outlook is maintained. This 

was achieved through additional revenue streams through corporate 

training, consultancy, and online learning. There was also cost control 

and containment and  prioritization of mission critical projects. 

Through a collaborative partnership with IBTC, online learning was 

introduced for Association of Accounting Technicians (AAT), Botswana 

Institute of Chartered Accountants (BICA), Association of Certified 

Chartered Accountants (ACCA), Chartered Institute of Management 

Accountants (CIMA) and Certified Financial Analyst (CFA) to increase 

access for continuous professional development and to grow the number 

of privately sponsored students. To date sixty-five students have enrolled 

into the platform and promotion is ongoing to increase the number of 

students using the platform. 

The platform provides convenient, flexible, and affordable programs 

with interactive material supported by BPP, an internationally renowned 

finance and accounting content producer  for learning material. Students 

can study online and offline with the support of tutors and through pre-

recorded videos. The online learning was thereafter launched in Eswatini 

in collaboration with the Eswatini Institute of Accountants. Another online 

learning partnership was forged for staff development through Skills 
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Network for short-term programs to promote upskilling and personal 

development especially on soft skills of employees while on the job.

 

During the year, BAC successfully brokered a top-up for four School 

of Computing and Information Systems inhouse developed programs 

in partnership with the University of Sunderland. This means that the 

degree programs will be awarded in partnership with the University 

leading to an increase in the number of students enrolled into these 

programs. 

3. Conclusion
2019/2020 has been a great year filled with achievements for the 

college from the students outstanding performance in various programs 

and projects locally and internationally. I am always amazed at the 

the diversity of successes accomplished by both students and staff in 

different initiatives, events and projects as we continue in our journey to 

be the business school of choice. 

The BAC team has done a tremendous job in our Teaching Excellence 

and Student Learning Experience considering the increase in the 

number of first classes, student participation in local and international 

research and innovation projects and academic achievements. In 

addition, the introduction of the mandatory Venture Creation module 

for all undergradaute degree programs alongside the establishment of 

the Research and Innovation centres in the Francistown and Gaborone 

campuses and related programs will contribute immensley to the growth 

of innovative solutions and products generated by our students. 

The Board and Management of BAC look forward to commercialising 

these creative masterpieces in waiting and trust that they will inspire 

more students to participate in venture creation projects with resolute 

passion. It is through these projects that we believe that BAC, the 

students and its entire community will add value to employment creation 

in the country and also empower youth in our communities to be much 

more innovative, independent and embrace entreprenurship as a career 

option and a way of life. 

I am pleased that when the COVID-19 Pandemic was pronounced a 

pandemic by the World Health Organisation (WHO), our government 

took a steadfast preventative and protective measure and declared the 

state of emergency to safegurad the lives of Batswana and to minimise 

the impact of the pandemic on the livelihoods of our nation. 

The vigilance, commitment, tenacity and unity displayed by the BAC 

Management and Team to plan and strategise on how to change and 

align the academic calendar, student recruitment and support services 

was extraordinary and remarkable. I am trully proud to have such 

a responsive and strong team.  The Board, the Ministry of Tertiary 

Education, Research, Science and Technology, our strategic partners and 

students were equally understanding, supportive and amenable to the 

proposed interventions. 

I am grateful for the collaboration, cooperation and collective efforts 

displayed by all stakeholders throughout the year and during the 

unprecedented times brought by the outbreak of the COVID-19 

Pandemic. I believe that together we will rise above the challenges 

and emerge triumphant as we continue to adapt to the evolving new 

environment. It is on this note that I look forward with excitement to 

achieving goals of the final year of our current institutional strategy and 

the crafting of a new one for the years ahead. 

Serty Leburu
Executive Director
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The Office of Strategy & Institutional Planning (OSIP) oversees and 
monitors the implementation of the corporate strategy and ensures that 
the intents of the Strategy are achieved. The BAC Corporate Strategy is 
envisioned around five (5) Key Focus Areas (KFAs) being; 
• Teaching Excellence and Student Learning Experience 
• Research and Innovation
• Financial Sustainability
• Infrastructure Development & Optimization
• Staff Experience – The People Agenda

An Entrepreneurial and Innovation Centre has been established to assist 
the College in achieving the intents of its Key Focus Areas; Teaching 
Excellence and Student Learning Experience, Research and Innovation 
and Infrastructure Development and Optimization. In addition, the 
centre will vastly contribute to employability through provision of life 
and practical skills to the students.

During the Financial year, the College embarked on a Quality 
Management System project which will ensure the College has 
documented re-engineered processes and at the end work towards 
being ISO 9001 – 2015 certificated. The ISO 9001 – 2015 certification 
will contribute to the business growth of BAC, through an increase on 
trust from its stakeholders, students and collaborative partners as the 
standard will give assurance of the quality and credibility of the College’s 
programs. Both projects will immensely contribute to the College being 
efficient in providing service to its customers.

In an effort to enhance employability and entrepreneurial skills on our 
students the College introduced out of classroom programme called 
Lead 360.

Lead 360 is a programme where industry leaders are invited to facilitate 
on various topical issues to enhance the industry readiness of our final 
year students (soon to be graduates). This programme was carried 
out through four seminars, before it was interrupted by the COVID-19 
pandemic. To mitigate against interruptions such as the COVID 19 
pandemic, the College intends to continue offering the programme via 

online platforms. The College continues to engage different stakeholders 
such as Citizen Entrepreneural (CEDA), Local Enterprise Authority 
(LEA), Botswana Innovation Hub (BIH) and Microsoft Africa PTY Ltd in 
working together in App Factory Projects to promote technological and 
innovative skills. 

The projects facilitated under the App Factory initiatives are done in 
collaboration with industry partners, for co-creation and co-production. 
Under the App Factory Projects initiatives the College has collaborated 
with Microsoft PTY Ltd as a technical partner, Botswana Innovation Hub 
(BIH) for innovation funding and start-up acceleration, where students 
are linked with industry partners and challenged to provide ICT solutions 
to address industry problems. CEDA and LEA are engaged as industry 
partners which will assist in identifying problems faced by SMMEs under 
their portfolios, especially those in the tourism and hospitality sector, 
and BAC through its students are engaged to come up with innovative 
solutions to those problems. 

 In the last two (2) years of the BAC Five Year Strategy; 2020/2021 and 
2021/2022 the College intends to focus on  three (3) key strategies; 
Digital Strategy, Change Management Strategy and sustainable  Business 
Continuity. The Digital Strategy will be comprehensive to encompass the 
College’s strategic initiative of having an online learning unit, which is 
charged with the responsibility to promote online learning platforms and 
offerings. 

OFFICE OF STRATEGY & INSTITUTIONAL PLANNING - OSIP
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Legal Status
An institution of tertiary education training, the Botswana Accountancy 

College (BAC) is a company limited by guarantee; incorporated in 

1996 under a Memorandum and Articles of Association, in line with 

the Companies Act, Cap 42:01. The Memorandum and Articles of 

Association were revoked in 2011 when BAC adopted the Constitution 

under the new Companies Act Cap 42:01.  The College Guarantors/

Members are    constituted as follows:

 i) The Botswana Government through the Ministry of Tertiary 

  Education  Research Science & Technology

 ii) Botswana Institute of Chartered Accountants (BICA)

 iii) Debswana Diamond Company (Proprietary) Limited 

The primary objective for which the College was established was to 

assimilate the operations of the then Debswana Accountancy Training 

Centre (DATC) and the   Botswana Centre for Accounting Studies 

(BCAS); with a view to harmonise  professional accountancy training 

and to curb the acute shortage of Professional   Certified Accountants in 

Botswana. This gave effect to the national development goals towards 

human resource capital development to meet the economic needs of             

Botswana. 

It is achieved through several objectives as outlined in its Constitution; 

amongst others to:

 i) Initiate, develop and promote a broad range of programmes in 

  the  profession of accountancy

 ii) Initiate, develop and promote flexible and innovative long and 

  short-term programmes; which include but not limited to 

  information technology, tax, law, management, tourism, public 

  finance and human resources

 iii) Foster academic research, which contributes to the various 

  sectors of the economy.

The College has since its establishment evolved from predominantly 

training professional accountants, and diversified its product offering 

more towards a business orientated institution, with a focus not only to 

address Botswana’s economic needs, but the region and the world. 

In 2018, the College changed its name from Botswana Accountancy 

College to Botswana University College of Business Science; in giving 

effect to  one of the strategic focus areas of converting to university 

status. It is critical that the institution continuously evolves and aligns 

itself with the demands of the market and the economy in terms of the 

product offering and learning outcomes. The name Botswana University 

College of Business Science is yet to be launched, however from a 

regulatory perspective, the new name is in use under the trading name 

Botswana Accountancy College.

Governance Statement
 BAC is governed by the Board of Directors. The role of the Board is 

to provide oversight in the management of the company towards 

sustainable development and growth, in line with its Corporate Strategy; 

thereby giving effect to its objectives as outlined in the Constitution. 

The mandate of the Board is to provide oversight to Management in 

the implementation of the College Corporate Strategy. In doing so, the 

Board provides reasonable assurance to the shareholders and all other 

stakeholders that the company operates within the ambit of the law. 

It also assures corporate governance principles and other applicable 

framework towards sustainable development, growth and the creation 

of shareholder value. The company subscribes to the highest standards 

of business ethics, compliance with applicable law and other corporate 

governance frameworks, and subscribes amongst others to the:

 - Companies Act

 - Education Act

 - HRDC Act

GOVERNANCE
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 - BQA Act

 - PPADB Act

 - King III Code of Corporate Governance

 - International Financial Reporting Standards

 - Financial Intelligence Act

The new BQA Act has introduced new dimensions to compliance, 

introducing a stringent framework for accreditation as an Education 

Training Provider (ETP) and for all programmes (current and new). This 

has presented its challenges in terms of  specific requirements for new 

or additional resources and structures particularly in the academic front, 

as well as corresponding costs for registration and accreditation. Suffice 

to say that as at the reporting period, the College has been accredited 

as an ETP. 

Lecturers have been duly trained and accredited as moderators. The 

process for registration of programs for all core programmes offered 

by the BAC has been completed, with the institution pursuing the 

registration of new programmes with a focus on new short-term online 

courses across the business spectre. 

Board Structure
The BAC Board gives effect to the requirements of the above legal and 

governance framework through the establishment of strategies and 

policies towards appropriate   business and financial risk management. It 

also includes the approval of financial    objectives and targets, structured 

reporting by Management, the management of key stakeholder 

relationships and collaborative partnerships.

The Constitution provides for most non-executive directors, comprising 

a minimum of six non-executive directors and a maximum of twelve 

members, including the Executive Director who is an ex-officio member 

of the Board. The composition of the Board shall, always reflect the 

underlying skills and capabilities required to attain the College mandate; 

particularly in the context of a tertiary education institution by bringing 

a proper balance of knowledge and skill, experience, resources required 

given challenges facing the business, prevailing market conditions and 

the primary need to maintain an effective Board. The requirement for a 

majority of non-executive independent directors resonates with the need 

to bring diversity, independent thought and objectivity in the discussions 

and decision-making process. 

The Board has during the period, attended training to manage identified 

skills gaps and remain abreast with developments in the tertiary education 

space as well as principles of good corporate governance; to remain 

relevant and efficient in the discharge of its oversight role. In addition, 

the Board undertook a Board Performance appraisal, to determine its 

efficiency levels as a Board, identify areas of improvement and develop a 

focused action plan to close the gaps that may otherwise have a negative 

bearing on the ability of the Board to perform at optimum levels. 

Directors are appointed, removed and replaced by the Members, in 

accordance with the provisions of the Constitution and as further outlined 

in the Members Compact and the Board Charter. Directors serve office 

for a period defined in the Constitution and or until removed by the 

Member who appointed them or upon resignation, whichever comes 

first. A director maybe re-appointed for a further term, provided they 

offer      themselves for re-appointment. Re-appointment shall as much as 

possible take into consideration the performance of the directors and the 

need to rotate directors whilst at the same time allowing for continuity 

by retaining at least one third of the former directors in the new Board.

During the year under review, the Board was constituted as follows: 
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Name Date of 
Appointment

Position

Mr Shabani Ndzinge 03 April 1996 Chairman
 (Independent 
non-executive)

Mr Nigel Dixon Warren 01 January 2006
(Resigned)

Deputy Chairman 
(Independent 
non-executive)

Mrs Emma A Peloetletse 08 December 
2009

Non-executive (rep-
resenting the MFDP 
(Accountant General)

Mr Johannes Motshegare 13 July 2012 Non-executive 
(representing 
Debswana)

Ms Serty Leburu 01 March 2016 Executive Director 
(ex-officio)

Mr Conductor P Masena 25 April 2017 Non-executive (rep-
resenting BICA)

Mrs Franciscah S Molefe 05 July 2017 Non-executive 
(representing 
Debswana)

Ms Helen C Chilisa 25 April 2017
(Resigned)

Non-executive 
(representing MOTE 
(Basic Education)

Mrs Cecilia V Ramatla-
peng

25 April 2018 Non-executive (rep-
resenting BICA)

Mr Moshe C Z Libengo 25 April 2019. Non- Executive (rep-
resenting BICA)

Ms Tebogo Bagopi 01 November 
2018

Non-executive (rep-
resenting MOTE)

The following appointments and resignations were noted during the 

year;

Appointments Resignations

Moshe C Z Libengo - 25 April 
2019

Helen C Chilisa - 01 May 2019

Nigel Dixon-Warren- 07 February 
2020

Board Sub-Committees
In the discharge of its mandate, the Board is supported by sub-

Committees of the Board and the Constitution currently provides for 

three Committees as follows:

 - The Human Resources Committee

 - The Finance and Audit Committee

 - The Academic Affairs Committee

The Committees operate under the delegated authority of the Board 

and are guided by the Board in terms of their composition, scope 

of work, powers and authority. Committees of the Board provide a 

specialist forum for the interrogation of issues given the specialist skill 

and expertise pertaining to the subject matter and plays an advisory role 

to the Board.
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The Board currently has two Committees, constituted for the period as 

follows:

Finance and Audit Commit-
tee (FAC)

Human Resources Committee (HRC)

Mr Nigel Dixon-Warren - 
Chairman

Mr Johannes Motshegare - Chairman

Mr Conductor P Masena Mrs Emma Peloetletse

Mrs Franciscah S Molefe Ms Tebogo Bagopi

Mrs Cecilia V Ramatlapeng Mr Moshe C Z Libengo

In view of the strategic decision to transition to university status, the 

establishment of the Academic Committee of the Board has become 

critical to support the broader mandate of being a University. The Board 

has initiated a process towards the establishment of the Academic 

Committee. 

The Board membership currently represents a diverse range of knowledge 

and skill, to adequately monitor the implementation of strategy towards 

the discharge of the College objectives. These skills are reviewed on an 

ongoing basis to ensure an  effective Board that adequately meets the 

requirements of the business. 

The Board recognizes the need to continuously review the governing 

framework of the College for compliance. In addition it accounts for any 

lapses or gaps in the implementation of applicable governing frameworks 

which include the Constitution, the Board Charter and the Members’ 

Compact (which defines the relationship between the Members, the 

expectation and responsibilities of the Members to each other and the 

College). It also includes ongoing developments in corporate governance 

as outlined in terms of the King Code of Corporate Governance and 

other applicable codes. To that end the Board has, during the year, 

completed a process of review of the Constitution, the Board Charter 

and the development of several academic policies (in giving effect to 

new requirements of the BQA Act). Furthermore, the Board initiated 

the process of consultation and approvals towards transitioning to a 

University; in giving effect to the Corporate Strategy.

Meetings of the Board
The Board and its Committees is required to meet at least quarterly 

to discharge the business of the College. The Board can also convene 

special meetings as may be required from time to time to dispense with 

issues that require immediate attention and guidance by the Board in 

terms in the discharge of its oversight role. For the period under review, 

the Board convened a total of 21 meetings, to address the requirements 

of the business particularly around the area of strategy development, 

human capital development, succession planning and risk management 

and infrastructural development. 

In general, these are intended to enhance the learning experience 

by ensuring that processes are put in place and well documented to 

facilitate equitable and sustainable management of operations. Similarly, 

it facilitated timely and effective Board decisions as required as follows:

Human Resources 
Committee

Finance and Audit 
Committee

Main Board

21 May 2019 13 June 2019 01 Apr 2019

14 June 2019 12 Aug 2019 17 June 2019

25 June 2019 26 Aug 2019 23 August 2019

13 August 2019 19 Nov 2019 04 Sep 2019

20 November 2019 03 March 20 19 October 2019 

18 February 20 28 November 2019

28 Feb 2019(AGM)

20 January 2020

04 March 2020
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There was a notable increase in Board activity during the period in 

providing the necessary oversight in the implementation of two strategic 

areas around the Orgarnisational Structure Review and infrastructural 

development of Plot 61922, Fairgrounds to improve staff experience and 

enhance the learning experience for students.

Directors Remuneration
Apart from the Executive Director, Members of the Board and Sub-

Committees are not entitled to monthly or annual salaries. Members of 

the Board are paid sitting   allowances at prevailing rates which currently 

are in line with applicable directives of Government. The amounts 

highlighted per member were paid in the reporting period.

MEMBER POSITION DIRECTORS 
REMUNER-
ATION
(sitting 
allowance)

On-Board 
Passage-
ways
Data 
Bundles

Dr Shabani Ndzinge Board 
Chairman

P25 200pa P 2520.00

Mr Nigel Dixon-Warren Deputy 
Chairman

Donated to 
charity

P 2520.00

Debswana (in respect of Mr 
Johannes Motshegare
Mrs Franciscah Molefe)

Director(s) P26 460pa P5040.00

Mrs Emma Peloetletse Director P16 380 pa P 2520.00

Mr Conductor P Masena Director 21 420 pa P 2520.00

Botswana Government (in 
respect of Ms Tebogo 
Bagopi, Ms Helen Chilisa

Director(s) P17 640pa 
(Paid to 
Botswana 
Govern-
ment)

P 2520.00

Mrs Cecilia Ramatlapeng Director Nil (waived) P2520.00

Mr Moshe C Z Libengo Director P13860pa P2520.00

The variance is a function of the applicable rates, at P1575.00 for the 

Chairman and P1298.00 for Members and the number of meetings/

Board activities attended.

Compliance with Corporate Governance Code
The College subscribes to principles of good corporate governance as 

entrenched in the King Code and other applicable regulatory framework. 

The Board consistently strives to ensure that the College is aligned 

with the requirements of good corporate governance. Reviews are 

undertaken at designated times to measure the institutions compliance 

and or maturity levels, to identifying existing gaps and developing             

deliberate strategies and initiatives to address same. Compliance is 

measured across the following broad principles:

1. Ethical leadership

2. Composition and the oversight role of the Board

3. Audit Committees of the Board

4. The governance of Risk

5. Information Technology governance

6. Compliance with laws

7. Internal Audit

8. Stakeholder Management

9. Integrated Reporting

The above process is augmented in terms of the reviews undertaken 

by the Botswana Accountancy Oversight Authority (BAOA) on Financial 

Reporting Monitoring and Corporate Governance, under the Financial 

Reporting Act, 2010. The institution had developed an Action and 

Implementation Plan to address specific areas of non-compliance.
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The office of the Registrar is an active, dynamic office that provides 

central services to administrative and academic units as well as Botswana 

Accountancy College’s over 5000 students and more than 11,000 alumni.

We exist for the following:
Our office strives to provide personalized attention while serving the 

vast number and variety of constituents on campus. We have a keen 

appreciation for the role our office plays in supporting critical College 

initiatives. In that light, our major focus is on how we can be a major 

contributor to BAC’s initiatives and do so in a way that balances 

innovation with preserving the accuracy and integrity of the student 

records which we are the custodian of.

We recognize the importance of each person we serve; hold the trust 

and confidence of students, academic teams, and staff for our quality of 

work, collaborative solutions, and administrative foresight.

We care for our employees by promoting a friendly and stimulating 

office environment with opportunities for professional development. 

Our Mission
 Our mission is to provide the student with a business school environment 

and experience that will assist the academic departments in their efforts 

to produce well rounded individuals who will occupy outstandingly well 

the leadership positions for which their studies have equipped them. 

Services offered  

1. Maintain the permanent academic records for all schools in the 

 College, including registration (initial and changes), processing 

 grades recording degrees granted for all students past and present.

2. To maintain the College official course inventory 

3. To recruit, admit and enrol students for classes across the schools

4. Management of student information and provide academic transcript 

 service to all current and former students.

5. To ensure the accuracy, preservation and privacy of institutional and 

 student academic records

6. To manage examinations, publish results and releasing of transcripts 

7. To produce and publish academic calendars 

8. To interpret and enforce academic policies. 

9. Provide, on request, service and assistance to other administrative 

 users of the Student Information, including assistance with data 

 interpretation and understanding, query programming, and the  

 scheduling and production of reports.

10. Organise welcome sessions for first year students

11. Manage Alumni Association and conduct Tracer studies

Achievements (April 2019-March 2020) 
1. Successful implementation of Online applications

2. Successful implementation of student online services.

OFFICE OF THE REGISTRAR
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The academic portfolio covers the core business of the College: Teaching 

and learning, Research and Service. The core business is discharged 

through four Schools; that is the School of Postgraduate Studies; School 

of Finance and Professional Studies; School of Business and Leisure; and 

the School of Computing and Information Systems. These Schools are 

supported by the Library Department and Registry Department. The 

Annual Report summarizes the performance of these business units for 

the period April 2019 to March 2020.  

Over the period April 2019 to March 2020, the Academic Portfolio 

implemented its planned strategic initiatives. The most notable of these 

include

(a) The writing and submission of all its 30 qualifications to the Botswana 

Qualifications Authority (BQA) for approval. 

(b) The writing of two new undergraduate qualifications, one in the area 

of Culinary Arts, and the other in the area of Events Management. Both 

of these aimed to strengthen the development of the tourism sector, 

which is a national priority focus area in the country. The conclusion of 

discussion with the College’s university partner to jointly develop and 

implement a master’s degree in the area of sustainable tourism to further 

professionalize the tourism sector.

 

(c)The demand and relevance of the programmes offered continue to be 

high, as evidenced by the Market Needs Analysis Survey conducted in 

2019. The Needs Analysis identified a number of opportunities for new 

offerings, including online study. 

(d)In the period April 2019 to March 2020, the portfolio also implemented 

an office to manage online learning, headed by a portfolio manager. 

The online learning platform was also established and launched, in joint 

partnership with IBTC and BPP. The launch of the online learning modality 

was quite significant – being the first in the history of the College. 

(e) In terms of teaching and learning performance, the quality of 

pedagogical activities continue to be high, as reflected in the above 

target student pass and progression rate achieved in three of the Schools. 

The AOL initiative has been piloted in two Schools to improve student 

performance, and it is scheduled for implementation in the remaining 

Schools, especially in the one offering professional education where pass 

rate is relatively low. 

(f) Graduation rate continues to be high. Over the period, the College 

graduated 530 students at undergraduate level, spanning different 

degree programmes in areas of computing and information system, 

business and leisure and accountancy or the first time, the College 

graduated masters students in four fields: Executive Master’s in Business 

Administration, Master’s in Procurement and Logistics Management, 

Master’s, Master’s in Project Management, and Master’s in Strategic 

Management.

(g) The college continues to build infrastructure for the provision of 

web-based academic services. As such, the College has successfully 

implemented Student Online Services which enable individuals to apply 

online for courses and to also receive e-communications.

The specific details of these achievements and others are outlined in the 

sectional report below.

ACADEMIC PORTFOLIO
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Mandate and overview
The School of Computing and Information Systems (SCIS) is renowned 

for its undergraduate degree offerings in the areas of Computer Systems 

Engineering, Applied Business Computing, Mobile Technologies, 

Business Intelligence, Network Computing, Information Communication 

Technology and . The School offers programmes that are enablers for 

driving business growth, and prepares professionals to be life-long 

learners. The School delivers its education and training mandate in 

partnership with the University of Sunderland which confers two of the 

degree awards, with the rest of the awards being awarded by the SCIS. 

An important arm of the School is the Industry Skills Centre, which in 

addition to its primary purpose to impart ICT Industry Skills tom the 

College‘s graduates, also trains professionals in industry standard and 

vendor specific courses. The SCIS has produced graduates who have 

gone on to setup their own companies. The School is a leader in 

producing relevant and skilled graduates in the ICT Industry. To date 

the School has contributed over 1000 graduates to Botswana‘s skilled 

Human Capital resource.

Key achievements
As of 30 March 2020, the School had an enrolment of 750 student  This 

figure is higher compared to the previous reporting period at which the 

numbers was 686 students.,  This increase in total student enrolment 

is attributed to the progression of students on the BIDA, MTech and 

ICT programmes to the next academic year level for the first time, 

resulting in an increase on the overall student numbers enrolled in these 

programmes. 

Teaching performance
Graduation Performance 

Student performance in the 2018/20 reporting period was very 

encouraging with all programmes performing very well. In the 2018/19 

reporting period student performance as indicated by the percentage  

of student who successfully completed their degree programmes was 

very good, the BSc (Hon) CSE and the BSc(Hon) ABC graduating 98% 

and 91% of the students respectively. See figure1 below. This represents 

an increase and a decrease  of 2% on the BSc(Hon) ABC and 15 on the 

BSc(Hon) CSE. The planned minimum targets for these areas was 85%

Figure 1: Graduation statistics for the 2018/19 Academic year students

Year 1 – 3 programme performance
Tables 2a, 2b and 3 below show performance of year 1-3 students as 

SCHOOL OF COMPUTING AND INFORMATION SYSTEMS

1st class 2.1
award

2.2
award

3rd class Ordinary 
award

Repeat Gradu-
ating

CSE 1 12 35 1 10 6 59

ABC 7 28 20 6 2 1 63

CSE 2% 18% 54% 2% 15% 9% 91%

ABC 11% 44% 31% 9% 3% 2% 98%
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reflected by the semester 1 assessment cycle results . Progression from 

semester 1 to semester 2 was at least 85%   for all programme levels 

except for year 1 of the BSc (Hon) ICT on which the achieved progression 

rate was 79%.  

Table 2a:  Gaborone Campus. Year1 to 3 Performance as indicated by 

the student progression per programme

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3

BSc(Hon) ABC 94% 97% 100%

BSc(Hon)BIDA 97% 100% 100%

BSc(Hon)
Ncomp

100% - -

BSc(Hon)ICT 79% 85% 88%

BSc(Hon)CSE 93% 87% 96%

BSc(Hon)
Mtech

89% 93% 94%

Table 2b:  Francistown Campus: Year 1 to 3 Performance as indicated by 

the student progression per programme

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3

BSc(Hon) Computer Systems Engi-
neering

85% 100% 83%

BSc(Hon)Business Intelligence and 
Data Analytics

100% 100% 97%

BSc(Hon)Network Systems Engineer-
ing

- - 85%

BSc(Hon)Mobile Technologies - - -

Table 3: Average Progression rate per academic year across all 

programmes

Level Average Progression

Year 1 92%

Year 2 94%

Year 3 93%

CET 308 
User Expe-

rience
Design

CET324 
Advanced 

Cyber 
Security

CET343 
Android 
Mobile 

Develop-
ment

CET351 
Research

CET344 
Busi-
ness 

Interlli-
gence

Artificial 
Untelli-
gence

Total 86 79 121 164 44 1

Pass 81 73 91 138 42 1

Reffered 5 6 28 26 2 0

Pending 0 0 0 0 0 0

% Pass 94% 92% 75% 84% 95% 100%

Module
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Figure 2 Semester 1 Performance for the 2019/20 academic year for Year 
4 student
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The module pass rates as shown in figure 2 represent an average progression 

rate of 90% across the BSc (Hon) Applied Business Computing - ABC and 

the BSc (Hon) Computer Systems Engineering – CSE.  This reflected a high 

confidence towards achieving the minimum graduation target of 90%. The 

figures compared well to the final planned target of 85% as a minimum. 

Research / consultancy performance.
Two research papers where published in the School in this reporting 

period. These are in the areas of  Security with a focus on identity 

management as a service and on cyber security in wired networks.

Human capital developed
SCIS staff undertook online training in a range of areas, including, The 

Future of Finance , Digital Solutions for Future Banking, SAP TS410, 

Leading people and Teams.

Challenges encountered

A major challenge was the advent of the global Covid-19 pandemic 

i. Covid-19 and the lockdowns affected students’ participation. This 

 meant they did not have sufficient time to produce quality work. 

ii. Challenges of access to technology resources required for online 

 supported learning. This resulted in unsatisfactory lesson attendance

iii. Poor mobile network connectivity in some geographic areas 

 continues to be a challenge, impacting on student attendance. 

iv. Laptops/Computers: Whilst students who had access either had 

 laptops/computers or smart phones managed to somehow attend 

 classes, those who did not have laptop/computers found it hard to 

 do their assignments at home during lockdown

v. Student access to learning platforms  attracted data charges 

 resulting in student allocated data bundles not being adequate for 

 monthly requirements for online learning. This also negatively 

 impacted on student attendance
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SCHOOL OF FINANCE AND PROFESSIONAL STUDIES
Mandate of School, brief overview
The mandate is to produce competent business professionals to drive 

economic growth and diversification globally. The School strives to 

inculcate professional excellence, leadership skills, lateral thinking 

and ethical values in our graduates through a highly competent and 

dedicated staff compliment. The School continues to pursue academic 

excellence through provision of professional programs that are key to 

the growth and diversification of the economy. 

The programmes are offered through collaborative partnerships that 

include BICA–Botswana Institute of Chartered Accountants; ACCA–

Association Chartered and Certified Accountants; CIMA-Chartered 

Institute of Management Accountants; AAT-Association of Accounting 

Technicians; CIPS-Chartered Institute of Procurement and Supply; 

Professional BA(Hons) Insurance; CIA-Certified Internal Auditors and 

PGDT-Post Graduate Diploma in Taxation. 

Key achievements 
Teaching performance 
As at 31st March 2020, the school had a total enrollment figure of 

1622 Students. This number is slightly higher when compared to prior 

enrollment of 1606 as at 31st March 2019. The enrolment has remained 

fairly stable.

Progression and graduation
Overall student progression rate ranged between 64% - 100%, with 

ACCA being at the lower end and PGDT at the higher end. The school 

has a target progression rate of 70%. Graduation rates ranged between 

69% - 100% with ACCA and CIMA being at the lower end and PGDT at 

the higher end. In order to improve student performance, the School has 

introduced blended learning in conjunction with external partners. The 

table below show the graduate number between April 2019 and March 

2020 including comparatives. 

Table 1

As at 
March

AAT  
Gabo-
rone

AAT 
Fran-
cis-
town

ACCA CIMA BICA PGDT CIA TOTAL

2020 70 28 30 18 0 49 195

2019 66 30 22 9 2 42 1 170

Accolades 
The School continues to position itself as the preferred study support 

destination for professional business courses. To this end, the School 

has maintained the ACCA platinum status and CIMA premier partner for 

achieving set standards of academic performance as per the ACCA and 

CIMA requirements respectively.

New business developed 
In response to the demands for flexibility learning and widening access 

to education at affordable fees, the school launched its Online learning 

platform in conjunction with IBTC and BPP of South Africa and the United 

Kingdom, respectively. The Online platform delivers a suite of programs 

comprising of ACCA, CIMA, BICA, AAT and CFA. 

The school has extended its product offering at the Francistown campus 

to include ACCA, CIMA and BA in Insurance bringing the total to six (6) 

programs. 

Human capital developed 
The School attended various teaching capacity building workshops 

locally, regionally and internationally to support the effective delivery of 

new and revamped curriculums of various professional bodies. 

Three (3) members of staff have successfully completed the master’s 

degree program in Supply Chain Management and Corporate Finance 
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& Investments. In addition, two (2) members of staff are studying towards PhD 

while another two are studying towards master’s degree. 

Challenges encountered
The main challenge encountered during the period include high student 

dropout on the AAT and ACCA and disruptions to the academic calendar 

resulting from lockdowns due to Covid-19 Pandemic. 

The commencement date for semester 1 relating to continuing students has 

been deferred to January 2021 with the exception of the CIMA program. Final 

examinations for continuing students planned for May and June have been 

deferred to September. 

Class attendance for both remote and face to face learning were impacted 

negatively due to challenges associated with internet connectivity and 

transport logistics. Many of our students continue to experience socio-psycho 

and economical challenges which is affecting teaching and learning. 

Research Engagements 

In order to build research capabilities, the school planned to host a research 

day for professional Accountants in conjunction with the Nelson Mandela 

University of South Africa. The workshop will be conducted virtually due to 

challenges poised the Covid-19 Pandemic.

ONLINE
Learning

FLEXIBLE  |  AFFORDABLE  |  CONVENIENT  | INNOVATIVE  

We are here to enhance your career and enrich your life - 
that's our purpose. We do that with a clever selection of 
career-changer qualifications and a study support system 
that guarantees results. Choose a global business or finance 
qualification, such as AAT, ACCA, CIMA, CFA, ICAEW or BICA 
to increase your employability and career growth. BAC has 
partnered with the leading global professional education 
provider (BPP Professional Education) to deliver online 
programmes within Africa.

Why
Online Learning?
This is a more convenient, affordable, and flexible, 
customised and innovative mode of education.

AFFORDABLE

CONVENIENT

INNOVATIVE

FLEXIBLE

HOW TO APPLY?

1. Register with the Professional body(BICA/ICAEW, CIMA,
ACCA, AAT or CFA).

2. Go to our website www.bac.ac.bw and Click Online
Professional Application and select programme of your
choice.

3. Make payment.

4. Acknowledgement of application mail will be sent to
you from BAC.

5. Login credentials from BPP will be sent to you.

6. You are good to GO!

36



SCHOOL OF BUSINESS 
AND LEISURE

37



Mandate and overview
The School of Business and Leisure (SBL) provides relevant, skilled and 

qualified personnel for the labour market in Botswana and beyond in the 

Tourism, Finance and Business service sectors. SBL advances knowledge 

and skills in the above sectors through excellence in teaching, research 

and engagement. SBL prides itself in promoting a vibrant, high-

performance culture that is results oriented.

The School is anchored in a collaborative model for providing 

undergraduate degree programmes, where it works in partnership with 

the University of Derby and Sheffield Hallam University. These universities 

award the Honors degree qualifications offered by the school.

Below are the Programmes offered by SBL: BA (Hons) Accounting and 

Finance; BA (Hons) International Finance and Banking; BA (Hons) Business 

Management; BA (Hons) Entrepreneurship and Business Leadership; BA 

(Hons) International Tourism Management; and BA (Hons) International 

Hospitality Management.

 

Currently the School of Business and Leisure offers International 

Hospitality Management only in Francistown, Gerald Estate. All Business 

programmes are offered in Gaborone while only International Tourism 

Management is offered in both Gaborone and Francistown.

Key achievements
In March 2020 SBL had a total enrolment figure of 1355 Students 

representing an increase of almost 13% compared to 2019 prior 

enrollment of 1202 during the same period. The leisure portfolio 

accounts for roughly 29% of the student population. Enrolled students in 

the reported period pursued their studies on a full-time basis. 

Teaching, progression and graduation performance 
Table 1 below shows that the progression rates per module were above 

target. The individual module performance was pleasing. Student 

progression from one year to another continues, on average, to be 

above 90%. The School continues to strive to minimize failure, retakes 

and discontinued students’ rates through assurance of learning (AOL) 

campaigns. Generally, progression rates have improved between 2018 

and 2019.

Table 1: Summary of student progression, end of semester 1

(Sept-Dec 2019)

No. Programme Year Level 
1

Level 
2

Level
3

1 BA (Hons) Accounting and 
Finance

2019 97% 94% 91%

2018 98% 96% 97%

2 BA (Hons) International Banking 
& Finance

2019 100% 100% 100%

2018 92% 90% 99%

3 BA (Hons) Entrepreneurship and 
Business Leadership

2019 99% 99% 100%

2018 88% 97% 92%

4 BA (Hons) Business Management 2019 96% 99% 100%

2018 96% 99% 92%

5 BA (Hons) International Tourism 
Management (Gaborone)

2019 97.7% 94% 98%

2018 93% 91% 98%

6 BA (Hons) International Tourism 
Management  (Francistown)

2019 100% 199% 100%

2018 99% 94% 95%

7 BA (Hons) International 
Hospitality Management

2019 100% 96% 87%

2018 93% 94% 97%

As shown in table 2 below, the graduation rate stood at an impressive 

92% throughput above target of 90%. At the December 2019 graduation, 

a total of 329 students graduated with different qualifications offered by 

the SBL. Of these, 260 (79%) had an upper second-class division or

SCHOOL OF BUSINESS AND LEISURE
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Graduation results for academic year 2018/2019 generally indicate a 

level of satisfaction on teaching and learning by the learners. However, 

learners have generally indicated dissatisfaction with the following issues; 

availability of space for undertaking self-directed study and relaxing, 

limited access to the library beyond working hours, Wi-Fi connectivity 

issues. The SBL was recently allocated more space at FFC 5 which 

includes office space for lecturers and space for learners to undertake 

self-directed study. As such, some of the challenges experienced by 

learners will be addressed during the academic year of 2020/21.

School Research and Innovation performance: highlights and 
achievements
The SBL recognises the importance of research and innovation and has 

engaged in an effort to promote a research culture at the School. During 

the period under review, the School appointed a new director who holds 

a PhD in corporate governance and has extensive experience in teaching 

and learning, research and community engagement. In addition, two 

members of staff at the SBL completed their doctoral studies, further 

increasing the number of PhDs at the SBL. The School aims to increase 

its research output during the reporting period through the formation 

of research clusters which will undertake research in various areas such 

as entrepreneurship, tourism, finance and accounting. Plans are also 

underway to promote research through collaboration within the school 

to undertake research, collaboration with staff at partner universities and 

collaboration with academics at local institutions of higher learning.

SBL staff produced several research outputs as follows: 1, book was 

published by SBL staff members, 4 book chapters and book reviews, 

44 UG/PG research projects were supervised to completion, 3 funded 

research projects were undertaken and are currently ongoing, 8 research 

 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

Programme Enrolled Graduating 1st 2.1 2.2 3rd
 

% Comparison

A&F 67 88 57 77 - 8 13 21 30 38 15 10 85% 88%

IFB 69 54 69 51 11 7 18 14 22 23 12 7 100% 94%

EBL 82 67 73 62 6 3 33 26 32 25 2 8 89% 93%

BM 22 63 19 57 1 1 7 18 3 28 3 10 86% 90%

ITM 85 66 78 63 3 2 25 25 29 26 23 10 92% 95%

IHM 33 19 33 17 2 3 13 8 12 4 5 2 100% 89%

Total 358 357 329 327 23 24 109 112 128 144 60 47 92%                 

Table 2: Summary of graduation numbers;

better. International Finance and Banking programme had the largest number of first classes (11) followed by Entrepreneurship and Business 

Leadership with 6 first classes.
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projects were undertaken, 110 UG dissertations were supervised. 

Members also published 2 journal papers and took up editorships of 4 

journals. SBL staff members also contribute to the profession through 

presentations (public lectures, keynote speaker, etc.) as demonstrated by 

4 presentations undertaken during the period.

The School aims to increase research outputs through collaboration with 

other academics in local and partner universities, through supervision 

of postgraduate students. The School also plans to start a series of 

webinars which will be geared towards sharing research knowledge with 

other academics around the world. These have potential to increase 

opportunities for collaborative research.  

Community Engagement
The School had 42 consulting activities during the reporting period. 

SBL staff members have 16 membership(s) of professional associations 

such as CIMA, ACCA, BICA among others. Members also successfully 

attended 27 CPDs to enhance their professional skills, undertaken 23 

community engagement activities, and developed 2 executive education 

programs. The SBL is in the process of developing several MOUs with 

other institutions such as the First National Bank, and the Botswana 

Institute of Banking and Finance. 

In terms of collaboration with the business community, the School 

experienced major challenges during the period to March, 2020 when 

the COVID-19 pandemic resulted in lockdown and extreme social 

distancing.

Other Challenges Encountered
Research requires funding as such one of the challenges hampering 

research is the unavailability of research funding. Attempts are going to 

be launched in the next financial year to collaborate with other partners 

in grant writing.

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic the college management closed the 

institution effective 23 March 2020 in response to a series of decisions 

taken by the government due to the threats posed by the COVID-19 

virus. The closure negatively impacted several planned activities such 

as the international academic conference. The closure curtailed local 

and international travel resulting in postponement of the conference 

indefinitely. Plans are now going to be put in place to hold a virtual 

conference in collaboration with university partners.

The COVID-19 pandemic also negatively  affected several engagement 

activities which were planned for learners including  internship 

placements for both business and leisure learners.

40



SCHOOL OF POSTGRADUATE STUDIES

41



Mandate and Overview
The mandate of the School is to develop the human capital of the country 

and the wider region through the provision of postgraduate related 

education and training, supported by consultancy services, research and 

innovation. The mandate of the School therefore includes the provision 

of corporate learning and is responsible for work-based learning 

solutions through training of employees. The School strongly supports 

lifelong learning and has customized its education and training agenda 

with that in mind. The School offers masters’ degree programmes, 

postgraduate certificate, and diploma, as well as a host of non-credit 

bearing training programmes. The masters’ programme include MSc 

Strategic Management, MSc Project Management, Executive MBA, and 

MA Procurement and Logistics Management.

Key achievements
For the year 2019- 2020 the total number of students by programme is 

shown in table 1. Strategic management continues to enrol the largest 

intake, followed by Project Management. In the short programmes, 

Enterprise Risk Management continues to enrol the largest intake, 

followed by Procurement.

SCHOOL OF POST GRADUATE STUDIES

Programme Date Enrolled # of students

1. Master of Business Administration 2018-2019 50

2. MSc Strategic Management 2019 65

3. MSc Project Management 2019 32

4. MA Procurement and Logistics Management 2019 16

 Short Programmes

1. Enterprise Risk Management 2019-2020 312

2. Infrastructure Finance 2019-2020 22

3. Public Sector Project Management 2019-2020 21

4. Public Sector Procurement and Tender Process Manage-
ment

2019-2020 67

5. Finance for Non-Finance Managers 2019-2020 33

Table1: Student enrolment as at March 2020
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Marketing activities to attract more students into the MA procurement 

and Logistics Management translated into the SPGS having 16 students 

enrolled this year. 

Graduation 2019
The total graduation and throughput from the masters’ programmes 

stood at 91 students, against an expected 125 students. Non graduation 

is due to several reasons including authorized break from studies, 

referrals, deferrals and withdrawals amongst other factors.

Table:

Programme Distinction Merit Pass Total

MBA 1 11 4 17

MSc SM 0 19 20 39

MSc PM 1 25 8 35

Corporate Learning and Leadership
Between March 2019 and April 2020 total completion rate for short 

courses remains high.

Year PGC 
ERM

PGC 
PSPM

PGC 
INF 
FIN

CERT 
PSPTPM

CERT 
FFNFM

TOTAL

2019-2020 163 7 11 16 17 214

Over the year, the school undertook consultancy work on Money 

Laundering Risk Assessment for the Non-Profit Organisation, Legal 

persons and Legal arrangement as well as Trusts sector.

The SPGS trained for different corporate entities in the country.

Organisation Training Offered

BNPC Corporate Governance

Ministry of Trade and Investment 
(Cooperative)

Anti Money Laundering

Barclays Bank (ABSA) Finance for Non-finance Man-
agers

Diamond Trading Company 
Botswana

Risk Management

Research Portfolio
The SPGS has appointed two doctoral staff during the period under 

review. These new appointees will contribute to the research agenda of 

the school.  
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The BAC Library mission is to support research, teaching and learning 
by ensuring the provision of quality information products and services 
which enable our clients to leverage their academic and professional 
performance.

The library strategic goals:
 •  Develop a focused, core collection of print and electronic resources 
 to support instructional and research needs. 
•  Improve the quality and relevance of the collection by systematically 
 assessing the information resources needs of the academic 
 community 
•  Enhance access to information resources by utilizing information 
 communication technologies. 
• Provide a comprehensive bibliographic instruction program to 
 graduate students with information literacy competencies. 

Support programs provided to students 
1. Information literacy skills 
The information literacy program develops 21st century information and 
technology competencies in students; and research skills for lifelong 
learning. Information literate students can find, evaluate and use 
information effectively to solve problems and make decisions. Through 
this program the library: 
• Introduces new students to the complexities of BAC library 
 facilities. E.g. On-line membership registration, online book loans 
 etc. 
•  Familiarizing students who have little or no information seeking 
 skills with a broad range of library resources. 

2. Awareness Through social media
Students are informed of newly acquired resources and services through 
the various social media platforms.  Students can also contact the librarian 
for pertinent questions through these media.

3 Selective Dissermination of Information (SDI) 
The library circulates current publications to academics on their areas of 
interest. This service ensures regular alerts on new information on their 
chosen topics. 

Electronic Journals
EBSCO Host
This hosts database to secondary research databases that compromise of 
both e-books and e-journals, providing the right platform for academic 
research. EBSCO research database hosts up to fourteen (14) secondary 
databases, some being multi-disciplinary and other subject specific 
databases. These resources help support the information needs of users.

IEEE computing society
This database is subject-specific, providing information on computing and 
information science and technology. IEEE publications are peer-reviewed, 
indexed, and authored by technology thought leaders worldwide, and 
includes 17 scholarly journals and 13 magazines featuring the latest 
technology trends. 

Directory of Open Access Journals (DOAJ)
Directory of Open Access Journal is basically an online directory that 
indexes and provides access to quality open access, peer-reviewed 
journals.

Emerald Journals
Publisher of journals in Management, Accounting & Finance, Economics, 
Education, Health &Social care, HR & Organizational behaviour, Marketing, 
Sociology, Strategy, Tourism & Hospitality, Transport and Library & 
Information Science.

Business Monitor International
Business Monitor International (BMI) is an independent provider of 
proprietary data, analysis and forecasts covering 195 countries and 24 
industry sectors. This platform delivers weekly, monthly and quarterly 
reports alongside daily news analysis and ratings which allow businesses, 
banks, government and academia to manage risk, assess the validity of 
investment and opportunities across international markets. 

Operating Hours 
Mon-Fri: 0800-1700 Extended operating hours: 1700-2100 (exam period 
only, dates TBC) Contact us Physical address: Plot 50370, Twin Towers East 
Wing, 2nd floor. (Gaborone). Tel: 3980873/874/875/899 
Moffat Street, Plot 31403, (Francistown) | Tel: 2410558 | Email: library@
bac.ac.bw |  Facebook: Botswana Accountancy College Library

LIBRARY AND INFORMATION SERVICES
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The mandate of Quality Assurance and Enhancement (QA&E) is to   

ensure:

a. Compliance: Enforcement and monitoring compliance with 

 external regulatory requirements and internal standards as well as 

 serve accreditation requirements.

b. Process Effectiveness & Efficiency: Improvement of our internal 

 processes in teaching, learning and assessment as well as support 

 services in line with International Quality Standards.

c. Risk Management: Profiling and addressing areas of risk identified in 

 our processes and strategic pursuits.

The Quality Assurance and Enhancement function has undertaken 

a few developments aimed at fostering the spirit of partnership with 

the schools and support departments for quality enhancement 

purposes. The outcome in the outgoing year has been more 

cooperation between QA and other departments/schools, more 

consistent QA reporting and improved QA team motivation. 

In the year 2019/20, the Unit focused on enhancing quality and 

ensuring compliance through conducting Module Evaluation 

Student Feedback Surveys, that are conducted every semester in 

both the Gaborone and Francistown campuses. The surveys are 

used  to capture the student voice on quality-related issues and for 

continuous quality enhancement.

The Quality Assurance and Enhancement unit plan for the next financial 

year 2021-2022 includes:

a) The introduction of the QMS project which will ensure that  the College 

 has documented re-engineered processes and work

  towards being ISO 9001 – 2015 certificated. The ISO 9001 – 2015 

 certification will contribute to the improved service offering to BAC 

clients, increase trust levels and confidence by the stakeholders, students 

and collaborative partners  and also business  growth of the Institution 

as the standard will give assurance of the quality and credibility of 

the College’s programs. The project will immensely contribute to 

the College being efficient in providing service to its customers.

b) Through quality assurance audits, the Unit will ensure on time 

 regulatory compliance as well as enhance student learning 

 experience. By undertaking audits, competitive advantage of the 

 College shall be assured. 

QUALITY ASSURANCE AND ENHANCEMENT
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Student Support & Welfare Department had throughout the year ending 

31st March 2020 continued to drive initiatives across the sphere of student 

learning and living, aimed at nurturing student life to enhance student 

experience through co- curricular activities. Most of these activities are 

student led and revolved around a holistic approach geared towards 

the physical, emotional, psychological, financial, social, and spiritual 

wellbeing of students which helps them to positively adapt during their 

learning experience at BAC.

Thematic focus areas for Student Support and Welfare 
department were as follows;
Psycho- social Guidance & Counselling
Throughout the year the department offered individual and group 

counselling addressing various issues among them being academic 

challenges, depression, and mood disorders. Guidance was mostly 

done through the involvement of peer educators. In cases beyond 

the department’s expertise, students were referred to specialized 

professionals for further management of their different challenges. 

 Health and Wellness 

Clinics continued to offer health services to students such as consultations, 

provision of prescribed drugs, pap smear and drawing of blood for 

different tests.  In addition, the department continued to collaborate 

with external stakeholders to address HIV/ AIDS and non-communicable 

diseases by conducting quarterly HIV testing sessions, provision of 

condoms, film screening and organizing wellness days in the College to 

address issues that impacts on students’ overall wellness to enable them 

to adopt healthy lifestyles. Moreover, Initiatives towards continuous 

provision of health and wellness services continue to be implemented as 

the department aspire to ensure that students’ needs are met. 

 

 
Residence life
To enhance student experience within residence, initiatives such as 

aerobics, Friday’s 5 aside soccer matches, Valentine edutainment 

and hostel braai sessions were implemented to help address resident 

student life needs. COVID -19 lockdown,  arrangements  were made for 

oncampus  students to return to their respective homes.

Student leadership & governance
Relating to the SRC, preparations for elections of a new executive had 

been done, as the schedule of elections was developed & shared, and 

student IEC was trained on how to hold free, fair & democratic elections. 

But due to COVID -19 lockdown, the elections were postponed until 

further notice while the situation is being monitored to ascertain if its 

conducive to hold elections. 

   

For continued involvement of students in governance, an interim SRC in 

both Gaborone & Francistown has been appointed after engagement 

with stakeholders on the SRC elections and risks posed by COVID -19.

The department in collaboration with the SRC & peer educators 

implemented events geared towards enhancing student experience 

such as inductions, workshop trainings and edutainment activities. The 

SRC met with the Executive Management to share ideas on how to 

enhance student  experience.

 Career guidance & Counselling
Career’s unit continues to offer services to the general student community 

especially offering attachment readiness workshops to assist learners to 

develop and adopt ethical skills required at the workplace.

STUDENT SUPPORT AND WELFARE

49



Sports & Recreation
The College continued to affiliate with different associations such as 

BOTESSA, Rugby union and partook in league and tournaments for 

different sporting codes like soccer, basketball, karate, and Rugby. This 

has led to some of our students being nominated to represent Botswana 

in different sporting codes at the Confederation of Universities & 

Colleges Sports Association (CUCSA). 

 Welcoming & Induction
New students were welcomed & inducted on the services offered by 

the department and how to access and utilize such services. While 

hostel residents were warmly welcomed into the hostels and inducted 

on the College’s expectations in terms of rules and regulations and 

other welfare issues.

  

 Special needs
Continuous advocacy for learners living with disability was 

done calling for BAC to be inclusive mostly in terms of infrastructure, 

provision of interventions geared towards enhancement of student 

experience and capacitating staff on issues of special needs. 

Learners were also supported through various ways like ensuring that 

recommendations as per their assessments’ reports are personalized 

and shared with different stakeholders for specific interventions.  A 

room at the hostels has been set aside to be changed into a user 

friendly  facility  for special needs students.
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Challenges
•  Shortage of venues/facilities to undertake different activities 
•  Alcohol & Substance abuse among students
•  Increase in number of students’ deaths due to unnatural causes

Opportunities & Mitigation
•    The BAC strategy emphasizes student living & learning experience 

 as  central to delivery of the college mandate. In relation to 

 sports, facilities are leased from different stakeholders for 

practice  of different sporting codes. Currently, there is an ongoing 

process of building mixed 

courts and outdoor gym in Gaborone. While in relation to students’ 

deaths, there is a concerted effort on counselling and vigorous 

campaign on alcohol & substance abuse including character building, 

and engagement of different stakeholders to holistically address the 

issue. 
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INNOVATION 
& ENTERPRENEURSHIP

Botswana Accountancy College’s core driving force is to instill education, 

build skills necessary for developing globally competitive human capital, 

transform lives by grooming aspiring leaders who will add value to the 

economic growth of Botswana. The College has produced and shaped 

Business Leaders and Industry Champions, through its robust programme 

offering which incorporates soft skills development, entrepreneurship, 

research and innovation.

The BAC Student Start-up Investment Battlefield competition was 

initiated in 2018 as part of  the institution’s plan to contribute to graduate 

employment creation through promoting the spirit of entrepreneurship 

and innovation. The competition is run in collaboration with Botswana 

Investment & Trade Centre (BITC) through their annual Global Expo 

Botswana (GEB) and is open to BAC students across all programmes 

and levels. 

The BAC hands-on approach allows students to acquire not only the 

theoretical knowledge, but also the practical experience (referred to 

as experiential learning) therefore preparing them for career options 

in entrepreneurship or employment. The following are some of the 

projects the students have developed to demonstrate the skills, level of 

engagement and the experiential learning they have attained at BAC. 

Kesego Mokgosi, 2nd Year, BSc. (Hons) 
Computer Systems Engineering, Gaborone 
Campus
“I have grown to be a technology and machine 

learning enthusiast; I enjoy working mostly as 

Conversational Artificial Intelligence architect. 

I am one of the 100 African Developer 

Student Club (DSC) Leads in the DSC Google 

Developers program, the first in Botswana. I am also a Bothohacks 

winner. I have participated in international and local hackathons, the 

recent one being the 2019 Botswana Innovation Hub (BIH) Hackathon 

where my team was ranked 3rd position amongst other top innovators in 

the country” Kesego Mokgosi

Mbasela Rapelang Mbasela, 3rd  Year, BSc. 
(Hons) Computer Systems Engineering, 
Francistown Campus
Mbasela successfully listed an application on 

Google store called Dailee App. Dailee App 

is a simple and user-friendly Application that 

is used to track, manage, organize, and prioritize daily tasks. The name 

“Dailee” comes from the word daily. The name was coined to describe 

the purpose of the Application.  The Applications helps users make 

better decisions through results obtained after the tracking process.

“I came up with this Application after observing people’s daily work 

patterns, how they utilise their time and their productivity. My regular 

use of Social Media especially Facebook also motivated me to develop 

the App to keep track of my daily progress and productivity.  The App is 

handy at helping the user to cut out activities that do not add value to 

their lives.” Mbasela

Angela Matlapeng, BAC Alumni, 
studied BSc. (Hons) Computer Systems 
Engineering
Angela Matlapeng was a best student in her 

programme in 2015, very passionate and 

enthusiastic about the girl child. She strongly 

believes that nothing can stop women from 

STUDENTS INNOVATION AND ALUMNI PROJECTS
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achieving anything they are determined and passionate about. “’For a 

year and 3 months I was dedicated to the development of Windows 

Desktop Applications at SDK Digital Lab right after graduation. Amongst 

many apps I worked on are the development of local promotion games 

mostly for KBL, a feedback system called Feedback Master, FNBB’s 

Smart Device Loan Activation App, Barclays Bank Swipe n’ Win Game 

for Activation, COSAFA Predict n’ Win game and I am also proud of my 

involvement in the BOT50 App developed by our team at SDK,” said  A. 

Matlapeng.

In 2019, Angela Matlapeng introduced awards she named” AMA 

Awards” to class of 2019 best female students across the Computing 

field during the BAC Graduation Ceremony sponsored by BOFINET.

Rethabile P. Moikabi, 3rd Year, CIPS
Rethabile is the winner of the 2019 BAC GEB 

Student Investment Battlefield Competition. 

Rethabile’s idea was centred around waste 

management and she plans to open a 

Recycling Park.

 “Starting off with recycling the material we 

regard as “waste”, we want to offer Batswana a platform to showcase 

their crafting skills and even learn while earning income. The idea is to 

recycle waste into solutions for sustainable development.” Rethabile

Leano Lephalo, 2nd Year, BA (Hons) 
Business Management
Leano Lephalo participated in the BAC GEB 

Student Investment Battlefied competition 

in 2019 to present his ice-manufacturing 

company called Igloo Ice. He got second 

position. Igloo Ice is a 100% Motswana youth 

owned Company committed to manufacturing and distributing ice 

blocks and cubes. Its mission is to cater for the existing need for ice 

blocks and cubes at social and corporate events. This also extends to 

individuals and retails.

Tavonga Muchuchuti, BAC Alumni, 
Class of 2019 valedictorian, BA (Hons) 
International Finance & Banking
Tavonga Muchuchuti participated in the 

BAC GEB Student Investment Battlefied 

competition in 2019 to present his Finance 

Management idea under his business name, 

Axial Finance. He got third position.

“Axial Finance is all about redefining accounting inefficiencies through 

exploitation of artificial intelligence and revolutional neural networks.” 

Muchuchuti

Mothusi Oteng Matobo, BAC Alumni, 
BA (Hons) Entrepreneurship & Business 
Leadership

Mr Mothusi Matobo, now completed, 

BA (Hons) Entrepreneurship & Business 

Leadership, won with his business idea, 

Aquaponics, walked away with seed capital 

of P25, 000.00. Mr Mothusi Matobo has so far managed to register his 

company and finalize company documents, opened a business account, 

company branding which includes logo design, letterhead and company 

profile. Mothusi has completed fencing the land where the project will 

be executed.
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Bonno Motswaiso, BAC Alumni, BSc. 
(Hons) Computer Systems Engineering
Bonno was the 2nd runner-up at the 2018 BAC 

GEB Student Investment Battlefield.

Bonno Motswaiso is the Founder and CEO 

of Pula Online Mall Pty Ltd which is a multi-

vendor marketplace that centralizes online shopping from various stores 

into one platform, This allows instant sales and delivery, targeting all 

levels of the market. He first presented his idea at the BAC Investment 

Battlefield, where he got 3rd place. Bonno is a 22-year-old who just 

completed his honors degree in BSc of Computer Systems Engineering 

at BAC. 

Sedie Kemoabe, Former SRC Vice 
President, BA (Hons) International 
Finance & Banking
Sedie Kemoabe made her maiden mark at 

the 2019 Youth Expo as she launched her 

business line and made it at 2nd  position. “I 

run a company called SHEDOL Fragrances 

and Cosmetics in partnership with my sister. 

The body range was launched at the Botswana Youth Expo in 2019 and 

I am proud to have received positive feedback and to have won position 

two in our category.” It was a big deal for a young entrant and a student 

as me.” Sedie
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The College remains committed to enhancing employee work 

experience by ensuring that the environment supports professional and 

social growth, innovation and creativity. During the year, General staff 

consultative meetings were held in May and September 2019 in order to 

engage staff on policy developments as well as updates in the College 

performance. 

The College managed to carry out most of its social and sporting 

activities. These were meant to improve on team building, health and 

wellness and social interactions among colleagues. Wellness days were 

held in both Gaborone and Francistown as well as end of year party 

for the entire college held in Gaborone. Various departments held 

departmental team building away days to help the teams build rapport 

as well as focus on their deliverables at team level.

As of March 2020, BAC operated with 85.9% staff complement, 

being a total staff complement of 245 employees out of an approved 

establishment of 285. This was made up of 39% academic staff and 61% 

support staff. 

The College continues to experience stability in the turnover rate which 

dropped from 6.52% in the previous year to 3.65% in the current year. 

This is within the College’s annual turnover threshold of 5%. 

At the beginning of Financial Year 2019/2020,  29 scholarships for 

employees who were negatively affected by the Organisational review 

exercise were approved. As at the end of the year, twenty-two (22) of the 

employees had managed to start their studies. The remaining seven (7) 

were either awaiting admission or scheduled to start their studies in the 

later part of 2020. 

The college continued to develop its staff through short term skills 

development initiatives including training and conference attendance. 

During the year, most academic staff attended the Moodle training 

in order to enhance adoption of the Learning Management platform. 

In addition, assessor and moderator training was prioritized for most 

academic staff. Over and above that three (3) middle managers went 

through the Management Development Programme (MDP) with the 

University of Stellenbosch, which they have successfully completed.

HUMAN RESOURCES
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Facilities Management coordinates all estate- and facility-related services. 

The department oversees the operational activities that maintain and run 

the physical and logistical facets of the campus including management 

of the use of our space, utilities, and maintenance in order to enhance 

the quality of physical facilities.  

Completed Projects
Refurbishment of Plot 31202 in Francistown
The property which the college bought around year 2014 has been lying 

idle since then. The project involved conversion of existing structures 

into habitable learning and teaching space with compliance to both local 

government and BQA regulations. The facility managed to generate 

eleven (11) learning spaces, additional office space to accommodate 

eighteen (18) officers and further space for  the Entrepreneurship and 

Innovation center. The property is currently utilized by the School of 

Computing and Information Studies for students.

Records and Exam Centre 
Establishment of a Records Unit in Gaborone Campus required a 

dedicated and purposely designed space for management of both 

students and administrative records. The department during the latter 

half of 2019/20 financial year quarter redesigned and constructed the 

center. The space in question is to accommodate Records Management 

Unit and Student Exams Unit. Security within this facility have been 

enhanced with provision of security doors, biometric access control and 

provision of burglar bars where required.

Acquisition of office space
The department acquired a 2 year lease with a total of 2400 sqm space 

for learning and work at Fairgrounds Financial Centre (FFC) 4 & 5.  The 

space has been able to yield a total of 8 classrooms each with capacity 

of 45 students and total office space that can accommodate 40 officers. 

Additionally, the space comes with 82 surface parking bays. 

FFC1&2 Aircons
 With the aim to provide exceptional learning environment, the 

department  embarked on a P760 000 project for the refurbishment of 

mechanical services at FFC 1&2 building where the School of Business 

and Leisure is housed. This project involved replacement of small aircon 

with large volume airconditioners.

Ongoing projects
Hospitality lab for SBL
In pursuit of building a prosperous Botswana, BAC provides a 

range of business programmes including Hospitality and Tourism 

programmes offered at its Francistown Campus. To enhance student’s 

competencies, the programmes require industry practice to afford 

students opportunities to develop professional skills by putting theory 

into practice. The department is undertaking the design and built of an 

educational hospitality lab at the Francistown Campus. 

A contractor is to provide preconstruction, construction and equipment 

installation services for the design and build-out of an existing building 

located at Francistown Campus. The facility after renovation will be 

home to the School of Business and Leisure. The facility will be a hub for 

students to carry out their hospitality practicals.

Development of Plot 61922
The College have properties located in Gaborone and Francistown. 

Amongst these properties is an undeveloped Plot 61922 located at 

Fairgrounds -Gaborone of which the institution has identified a ‘PPP’ 

partner to develop the property as an office and academic space.  The 

project is estimated to cost P100 million and could take two (2) years to 

complete.

FACILITIES DEPARTMENT 
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The proposed development will comprise of multiple storey blocks for 

administration and academic purposes. The development will yield a 

total of 7596.17 sqm of floor space. Project completion date is expected 

to be Dec 2021.

Infrastructure development Master Plan 

The master plan is expected to serve as a basis for infrastructure 

development decision making. In addition, it will ensure coordinated 

infrastructure development and re-development geared towards 

meeting academic demands and objectives, as well as contribute to the 

overall BAC strategic intent.

Further to the above projects the department continues to carry 

scheduled and reactive maintenances and repairs as and when required. 

These works are to maintain existing facilities than to return to operational 

condition. It restores the building or facility to its prior condition for a 

better experience by the users.
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The Information Communication Technology department is responsible 

for implementing ICT services that afford BAC information Technology 

users an opportunity to work effectively and efficiently. It is the 

responsibility of the ICT Department to store, protect, process, transmit, 

and later retrieve information as necessary. 

As Information Communication Technology is the driving force of every 

organization in the modern business world, the College is continuously 

embracing new technologies and used them to deliver business 

products and services economically, efficiently and effectively. The ICT 

Department is responsible for strategic planning, oversight and direction 

of the ICT infrastructure, resources and services.

The department provides critical technology support to all the Campuses 

at Francistown and Gaborone, focusing on administrative systems, 

information management, networking, telecommunication, data centers, 

information security and privacy, server and storage infrastructure, 

customer services and technology business continuity. The department 

further partners with other stakeholders to enable service delivery, 

innovation and discovery.

Implementation of Integrated Student Management System (SIMS) 
and ERP Solution 
The Institute has embarked on the development of a SIMS-ERP solution 

for the next three (3) years. The development of the integrated solution 

is still at an infant stage but the ground work has already started as we 

are currently mapping all the processes and developing the Statement 

of User Requirements (SOUR). The initial process of the development of 

the solution was to benchmark with other institutions in the region and 

develop the SOUR document.

Botswana Accountancy College engaged ICL Botswana in reviewing and 

providing Quality assurance and controls in BAC processes. The purpose 

of the exercise is to produce SOUR document that would inform the 

acquisition of SIMS/ERP. The scope of works included:

• Training of BAC staff on Business Process Management and Business 

 Process Reengineering

• Map BAC processes (AS-IS)

• Review mapped processes and optimize (TO-BE)

• Review & Update SOUR Document for Development of Integrated 

 SIMS/ERP

Network Performance Monitor 
ICT Department has procured a system that will help track availability of 

systems, networks and application status. This system monitors a wide 

range of devices as follows:

• Printers

• Servers

• Network devices

• Projectors

• Application Status.

Online learning Application Form Project
BAC has introduced online courses for School of Finance and Professional 

Studies. Learners apply through an Online application form hosted on 

BAC website (www.bac.ac.bw) and integrated to FNB payment gateway. 

The project was completed successfully, and the platform is operational.

ICT continues to provide support for the platform.

Moodle Learning Management System Training
In  pursuit of introducing Online learning, BAC has adopted Moodle 

as a Learning Management System. There were staff members that had 

shown interest in adopting the platform. However, there was knowledge 

INFORMATION COMMUNICATIONS  TECHNOLOGY
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gaps in use and adopting the tool for content delivery. The ICT 

department engaged Eiffel Corp to train BAC teaching staff on Moodle 

both at Gaborone and Francistown the summary of training is as follows

SCIS – 11 lecturers

SFPS – 43 lecturers 

SBL – 24 lectures 

SPGS – 1 lecturer and 4 Administrators

There is a need for BAC to define a clear strategy on implementation 

and adoption of Moodle LMS across all Schools. Effiel Corp has been 

approached to provide advisory role on integration of LMS to BAC. 

The scope of work is to advise on scale of deployment, administration, 

technical support and content management. A more comprehensive 

plan is projected to rollout in the fiscal year 2020/2021.

Upgrade of Internet Bandwith and Wireless Connections
The Internet Bandwidth was upgraded from 285Mbps to 485Mbps 

in Gaborone to support blended learning and new students and the 

performance have improved significantly. The College uses 2 service 

providers (Abaricom providing 85 Mbps and BTC providing 400Mbps). 

The college negotiated with BTC to upgrade internet bandwidth from 

200Mbps to 400Mbps at no additional cost and the negotiations were 

successful. 

In Francistown, internet bandwidth is currently 70 Mbps (Abaricom 

providing 35 Mbps and BTC providing 35Mbps). The team is currently 

working with BTC to upgrade the Francistown BTC link from 35Mbps 

to 100Mbps to match the same user experience as in Gaborone. 

Negotiations are ongoing with Abaricom to increase its bandwidth at 

both sites at minimal or no cost to further increase internet bandwidth 

and provide an equally balanced fail-over setup.

Website
BAC Website is a secure platform for students, staff and the public to 

obtain information on the college. Through the BAC website, the College 

was able to reach out to a lot of people and we are now content that the 

website had helped the college in spreading awareness and  education 

on our programmes. The ICT department working in conjunction with 

Marketing had throughout the year ensured that the website is regularly 

updated with the latest information and general news.
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Marketing & Corporate Communications function supports the business by 

positioning the College as a symbol of business excellence renowned for 

quality tertiary education, internationally recognised programmes, and globally 

competitive graduates. The department is responsible for promoting the mandate 

of the College, its vision, mission and programmes. The department has achieved 

this mandate through a set of activities that form part of an Integrated Marketing 

& Corporate Communications strategy aimed at selling and promoting product 

offering, managing brand reputation; creating and transmitting coherent and 

cutting edge communication to both internal & external stakeholders to expand 

the BAC brand. The department also carries out market research regularly for 

input to develop and implement well-informed promotions, enhanced brand 

image and improved customer experience.

RECRUITMENT EVENTS BRANDING & COLLATERAL RESEARCH EXHIBITIONS SPONSRSHIPS

Career fairs in Secondary 
Schools (24 schools reached)

Online Learning study mode 
launch in Botswana and 
eSwatini

Launch of Brand Manual Quarterly Brand 
Awareness surveys

Consumer fair Investment Battlefield

Nationwide roadshow (28 
schools reached)

SCIS Conference Refresh of outdoor and indoor 
branding

Quarterly Customer 
satisfaction surveys

Global expo BTCL Charity Walk

BHRDS Fair in 
Francistown and Maun

Refresh of billboards Quarterly Campus 
preference Surveys

IISA Conference HATAB

eSwatini International Trade 
Fair

1st Annual Golf
Day 

New Francistown Campus 
Branding

CGMA Confer-
ence

BICA Awards

WhatsApp Business Line High Tea 2018/19 Annual Report Business Bo-
tswana Northern 
Trade Fair

CIMA Awards

Boosting of Facebook 
adverts and growth of Digital 
Communication

Class of 2019 Graduation 
- University of Derby & Uni-
vesity of Sunderland alumni & 
appreciation

Addition of 4 Billboards in the 
Southern Part of the country

Meltwater brand 
reports

Career Elevation 
Summit

Sesholo Primary

Sebele I Primary Prize 
Giving Awards

Nxakato CJSS Prize 
Giving Awards and 
Disability Training

ACHIEVEMENTS

INTRODUCTION

66



1. Student Recruitment 
It is always our wish to increase the diversity of the BAC student and 

alumni, therefore we continuously seek to grow the number of students 

locally and from other nationalities through a robust Integrated Marketing 

plan through student recruitment initiatives at both undergraduate and 

postgraduate levels. 

Throughout the year, the team participated and exhibited at several 

exhibitions locally and regionally. The objective of our participation 

was to raise awareness of BAC, to tap into the international market, 

to promote BAC programmes and the newly launched online learning 

programs as well as for recruitment of privately sponsored students.

Our campaigns featured testimonials from BAC Alumni to attest, 

reinforce and affirm the BAC quality teaching and learning which 

continuously contributes to shaping business leaders and transforming 

lives. The highlight of our recruitment plan was the national road show 

and school activations, weekly radio interviews to unpack the program 

as well as the boosting and promoting of our Facebook adverts which 

expanded our reach. 

Career fairs across the country were conducted with 28 Senior Secondary 

schools to offer career guidance to completing students and to educate 

them on our program portfolio offering. Industry visits were also scheduled 

with various Government departments and the private sector in different 

Industries to create new opportunities for collaboration, awareness of 

BAC programs and services as well as to increase enrolments. 

Other activities the team participated in during 2019 are the annual 

events which include the Business Botswana Northern Trade Fair, 

Consumer Fair, Career Elevation Summit, Eswatini International Trade 

Fair, Global Expo Botswana, 2019/20 Botswana Human Resources 

Development Career Fairs & Clinics in Maun and Francistown. 

During these exhibitions and fairs, we collaborate with current students 

and Alumni by giving them a platform to showcase their projects and give 

them exposure to market their projects and services. Application forms 

are also administered to prospective students. In addition, prospective 

students were requested to complete a questionnaire on BAC programs 

and brand awareness. 

To enhance our communication and to align with diverse and evolving 

customer needs, a new BAC WhatsApp Business line was launched at 

the beginning of 2020. This is a very efficient method of communication, 

that has contributed to increasing the reach to an extensive customer 

base. Our customers have an opportunity to get information at the tip 

of their fingers as they can have access to BAC prospectus, course fees, 

application forms and advertisements on BAC programs that they can 

download from the WhatsApp business line. 

2. Internal Communications and Engagement 
Employees of any organisation are inherent brand ambassadors and 

are at the forefront of promoting their brand. In our case we have both 

employees and students diligently playing that role, hence the need to 

always keep them informed. The internal communications within the BAC 

community continues to be a significant area of focus for the marketing 

team to ensure employees are constantly updated with activities, events, 

and developments within the institution. As a result, several initiatives 

been put in place to build consistency in messaging and grow the 

internal use of the right corporate image. 

The introduction and launch of the refreshed look and feel for the BAC 

brand as well as accompanying templates (letterhead, memo, posters 

etc.) resulted in improvement of the corporate image using standardized 
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templates. To encourage the use of the revised templates and easy 

access by employees, the templates were loaded on the intranet.

Our weekly bulletin, the Chronicles has consistently been published on a 

weekly basis and continues to be a source of information for employees 

with content ranging from academic and non-academic services, 

activities, self-empowerment, motivational and inspirational stories, 

employee welfare and general information about the institution covering 

both Campuses. 

As the Admissions office welcomes new students annually, the Marketing 

team supports through planning and organizing the induction sessions 

for students admitted into the various schools. The support also 

includes publicity, events branding, photography, and sourcing BAC 

branded induction packs offered to the first-year students as part of 

their orientation. It is through new students’ induction sessions that we 

get onboard them fully and share detailed information about BAC, the 

student learning journey, and our culture as the hallmark of quality and 

academic excellence.

Through “Brand Fridays”, the BAC Brand Ambassador Club encourages 

employees to wear BAC branded collateral or apparel bearing our 

corporate promote the brand internally. It also includes living the 

values competitions which challenges employees to demonstrate their 

understanding of the brand values and how they live the values as they 

deliver on their duties. It is now part of our tradition that every Friday 

staff members wear branded apparel, and it is encouraging that others 

wear it throughout the week. 

3. Stakeholder Engagement and Events Management 
As a business school, we are always keen to explore new partnerships 

locally and internationally that can enhance our customer value 

proposition and the opportunity to expand the BAC brand into new 

markets to enrich the overall growth of the school. 

The annual HATAB Conference is one of the events that BAC participates 

on to gain insight on the developments and opportunities in the tourism 

and hospitality industry. For the 2019 conference, the BA (Hons.) 

International Hospitality Management students featured their Mophane 

worm-based menu to showcase their creativity and the diversity of 

indigenous cuisine. Partaking and exhibiting at this event also aims to 

create awareness of the business and leisure programmes as well as 

to identify opportunities for industrial attachments and internships for 

students. 

Towards the end of the academic year, the undergraduate schools 

host employability seminars for final year students. The Marketing and 

Corporate Communications team assists with the overall event logistics, 

and publicity for the event to position BAC graduates as industry 

ready and market relevant. The seminars are facilitated in partnership 

with industry for students to impart soft skills and other competencies 

required by employers to prepare them to join the labour market upon 

completion of their studies. Presenters are from different industry 

practitioners and share information on CV writing, leadership skills, 

business communications, office etiquette, financial literacy, the value of 

networking and personal branding to mention a few. 

BAC hosted its inaugural International ICT Conference themed; 

‘Leveraging ICT for Sustainable Development’ in collaboration with one 

of its strategic partners, the University of Sunderland at the Gaborone 

Main Campus. The conference was officially opened by the then Minister 

of Tertiary Education, Research, Science and Technology, Honourable 

Thapelo Olopeng. 

In attendance there were various local and international captains of 
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industry, ICT and Research, private institutions, parastatals, government 

representatives, academics, BAC staff and students. The two-day 

conference had topics such as ICT for sustainable development, growth 

opportunities, policies, infrastructure, accessibility, and cyber-security, 

among others.

Insurance of Institute South Africa (IISA) hosts the annual African 

Insurance Exchange Conference, which is one of the largest insurance 

conferences in Africa. It attracts and brings together a diverse group of 

participants including insurance professionals, insurers, advisors, brokers, 

agents, educationalists, regulators, associations and members from all 

insurance disciplines and industry stalwarts. The participants converge to 

share ideas on the new trends, developments, and prospects of growing 

the insurance industry and profession.

 

This year’s conference was hosted in Sun City, South Africa under the 

theme, “Growing, Learning, Together”. The conference created a 

platform for networking and gives the academics Continuous Professional 

Development (CPD) points through panel discussions. It also serves as an 

opportunity to market BAC Insurance offerings. Currently BAC offers the 

newly introduced Professional Bachelor’s Degree in Insurance as well as 

Certificate of Proficiency (COP) in partnership with IISA. 

Botswana Accountancy College took part at the 2019 UNICA Summit 

which was held in Cape town, South Africa. The objectives of attending 

the UNICA Summit were to identify recruitment agencies, funders, areas 

of collaboration with institutions and raise awareness of BAC and its 

offering. 

UNICA is a technology company and not a student recruitment agency 

and is the world’s largest technology platform in International Student 

Mobility industry. It is one of the leading technology organization in the 

field of global student mobilization and enabling educational partnership. 

It is Africa’s Largest International Higher Education Summit co-hosted 

by CHEC - Cape Higher Education Consortium and the Association of 

Commonwealth Universities (ACU) as Strategic Partner.  

BAC hosted its Annual Graduation Ceremony, which was graced by 

the Minister of Tertiary Education, Research Science and Technology, 

Dr Douglas Letsholathebe, as the keynote speaker in December 2019. 

There was also representation from our key collaborative partners from 

the University of Derby, University of Sunderland and Sheffield Hallam 

University. Participation by the partners and our stakeholders affirms their 

commitment to the objective for which the institution was established 

and their unwavering support to the mandate of the institution. The team 

secured sponsorships worth P65,075 for all Best Students Prizes from 

industry partners and a 12 months 4Mbps internet bandwidth for the 

Valedictorian for the 2019 graduation ceremony.  

4. The Value of Public Relations and Communications
Our relationships with various stakeholders have grown over the past few 

years resulting in strong collaborative partnerships especially with the 

media coverage of BAC events. PR is vital to all these initiatives and it 

is mostly about building relationships to advance, promote, and build 

brand reputation and goodwill. 

As we continue to place emphasis on facilitating attainment of a 

knowledge based economy including growing and advancing research, 

innovation and consultancy, a partneship with the Business Kraal has 

been established to promote the institution through Gabz FM radio 

station weekly shows. The Business Kraal is a media company that 

facilitates business communications and partnerships in Botswana and 

internationally in collaboration with embassies. Through the partnership, 

BAC has featured various topics of national interest in relation to its 

product offering both undergraduate and postgraduate. It is also 

through the programme that feedback and input from the listerners on 

new business and partnership opportunities have been revealed.  
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The My Study Buddy program was launched in collaboration with Yarona FM 

radio station focusing on undergraduate programs and student projects. The 

My Study Buddy program is a channel through which students’ voices can 

be heard as they share stories about the BAC student learning experience, 

topics that inspire them and share motivational ideas with their peers on 

different areas related to the higher education student journey. The program 

covers both academic and non-academic related content. 

Another media partnership was secured with Primetime for the Campus focus 

TV show which profiles tertiary education providers and features events and 

activities by the instutition. Through these programs we have experienced 

an increase in brand recognition leading to an understanding of the BAC 

product portfolio and the overall value proposition especially on delivery 

of quality education. Other TV programs include a partnership with the 

Association of African Universities for placement of BAC advertisements on 

the AAU TV which streams content live online and Multichoice to advertise 

on 4 Channels on DSTV (BBC News, Trace Urban, MNET 102 and 1Magic).

The media coverage has been very good, and BAC obtained more support 

from diverse media and benefited from a total record of P228,577.78 PR 

Value received across various media for advertisements and events coverage 

throughout the year. These initiatives have increased BAC presence in digital 

and social media by 22% leading to an increase in the number of student 

applications due to people visiting the website, viewing content on our 

social media channels and listening to the radio interviews and watching TV 

commercials. 

5. Harnessing Market Research to enhance marketing plans 
On a quarterly basis, surveys on Campus Preference, Brand and 

Communications Audit and Customer Feedback are conducted to gather 

information and insights to contribute to better sales and marketing 

promotional campaigns, improve customer experience, and craft effective 

advertisements and communication messages that attracts quality 

prospective students and improves enrolment rates.

The “Campus Preference Survey” was conducted to get feedback on previous 

marketing activities before embarking on the main annual recruitment cycle 

for the 2020 Academic year. The purpose of the study was to find out factors 

that influence students’ choice of preferred location to study, to establish 

the relationship between feeder senior schools and preferred location of 

study, to find out the type of courses preferred by students at the preferred 

campus and the level of awareness and knowledge of programs offered at 

the Francistown Campus.

The Brand Awareness and Customer Satisfaction surveys results are utilized 

as input to augment the marketing promotional plans and customer service 

initiatives aimed to expand on the BAC brand awareness. It also provides a 

platform to align our promotional messaging with preferred communication 

trends to effectively reach our target market as well as to improve our 

stakeholder relations and customer experience. 

6. Conclusion
The higher education environment is very dynamic, and we have observed 

with keen interest the adoption of new digital platforms by our prospective 

students based on the website and social media reports. This experience 

and developments have encouraged the Marketing team to further explore 

more digital platforms to sell and promote BAC programs to new markets 

locally and internationally. 

We also look forward to growing and strengthening our partnerships with 

our stakeholders across the spectrum as well as to increase presence in other 

digital marketing platforms to expand our footprint and reach. 
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1. Summary
Botswana Accountancy College (BAC) has community engagement 

embedded in its 2017-2022 Strategic Plan. Our purpose is to advance 

knowledge and skills in business education through teaching and 

learning, research and community engagement to meet socio-economic 

needs. 

BAC embarks on community engagement activities for research, 

innovation and social projects. This we achieve through continuous 

and active engagements with our stakeholders ranging from BAC staff, 

current and prospective students, communities, industry, media and the 

government. In addition, we aspire to continuously contribute towards 

programs and initiatives that can have beneficial long lasting and positive 

societal impact.     

 

2. Corporate Social Investment 
The Corporate Social Responsibility Club driven by the Marketing team 

facilitates and supports institutional Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) 

initiatives. To support the Government’s, Adopt a School initiative, BAC 

adopted Nxakato Junior and Sebele I Primary Schools in 2015 and 2016, 

respectively. This was meant to assist the schools with enhancement 

of the teaching and learning, promote and support the use of ICT to 

empower the learners with the skills to search for information for their 

assignments and projects and for the teachers to improve reporting 

efficiencies contributing to a conducive environment for learning.  

BAC CSR Club is used as a vehicle to deliver on these initiatives.

Through the CSR Club, BAC continues to support the adopted schools 

of Sebele I Primary and Nxakato Junior Secondary with materials and 

equipment to enhance their teaching and learning environments as 

well as reward academic achievements. To date BAC has contributed 

seven and twelve computers to the schools respectively including 

annual support and maintenance of the computers by BAC staff and 

students. Other contributions include annual prize giving ceremony 

awards, training for children with learning disabilities and regular visits 

by BAC staff members to support the schools and engage the Schools 

management to identify areas for improvement. The total amount of 

sponsorship for prize giving ceremonies and training for the children was 

P63,011.00. 

In our drive to contribute to the development and nurturing of early 

childhood learning in our communities, BAC contributed stationery and 

teaching aids worth P5,000 to the White City Day Care Centre which is a 

pre-school run by the Government through the Gaborone City Council. 

The stationery was presented during an end of year graduation ceremony 

where the pupils were preparing to transition to primary school at the 

beginning of 2020. 

BAC donated backpacks, stationery and t-shirts worth P10,000.00 to 

Sesholo Primary School in Tumasera for their prize giving ceremony 

to encourage academic and non-academic excellence among the 

pupils. The theme of the prize giving ceremony was “Zero Tolerance 

to Indiscipline and Dedication to Academic Excellence in 2019 and 

Beyond”. 

To encourage and reward outstanding academic performance, BAC 

contributed the Best student trophies as awards during the Francistown 

Senior Secondary School (FSS) prize giving ceremony. In addition, the 

School of Computing and Information Systems students and lecturers 

provided an ICT literacy and awareness workshop for the FSS students 

and teachers. These initiatives were led and facilitated by the Francistown 

campus team. 

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY AND SUSTAINABILITY 
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In support of the spirit of excellence, BAC contributed P20,000 to Matsha 

College celebrations for their remarkable 2019 BGCSE results held at the 

school which has proved to be an epitome of excellence by its exceptional 

performance in the BGCSE 2019 examinations. In 2018, Matsha College 

was ranked position 25 out of a total of 36 secondary schools’ country 

wide. However, in 2019, the school progressed remarkably and attained 

position 4 out of 36 schools. This is one of the schools that the BAC team 

visits annually for building awareness about BAC through educational 

campaigns and career guidance to recruit students to enrol into BAC. 

BAC contributed branded stationery and merchandise to a group of ten 

Ledumang Senior Secondary School students accompanied by three 

teachers and the headmaster for a school trip to Miami, Florida (USA) on 

an educational and cultural exchange programme with the Miami Central 

Senior High through a program titled Blindfolded International Student 

& Cultural Exchange Program (BISCEP). The purpose of the trip was to 

give the team an opportunity to collaborate on educational projects, 

learning exposure through experiencing different styles of education 

and cultural enrichment.  The experiences and lessons from the trip will 

also be used as input into the revitalisation of Ledumang Senior School 

institutional strategy. 

During this visit, students attended classes at Miami Central Senior High 

and had an opportunity to visit various Universities, participate in sports 

games and visit cultural places. The students who were picked to go on 

the visit were selected based on their excellent academic performance 

in the Mid-Year Examinations.  

The institution embarked on its inaugural Annual Golf Day to raise 

funds to support its Corporate Social Responsibility initiatives including 

enhancing teaching and learning at the adopted schools and youth 

empowerment programs. The 1st Golf Day held at the Gaborone Golf 

Club attracted 76 players and raised a total of P191,076.17 in sponsorship 

including publicity and prize vouchers. The proceeds of the golf day were 

used to support youth skills development and empowerment initiatives.  

A sponsorship of P20,000.00 was issued to the Botswana 

Telecommunications Corporation Limited (BTCL) Foundation to support 

the fundraising for a donation to an under privileged family in Moshupa 

Village. The fundraising was in the form of the BTCL Annual Charity 

Walk during which the First Lady of the Republic of Botswana Mrs Neo 

Jane Masisi was the chief walker. BTCL is one of BAC’s industry partners 

with a collaboration to support student innovative projects as well as 

sponsorship for the annual graduation Valedictorian prize which is a 12 

months 4Mbps unlimited internet access. 

Entrepreneurship is one of the key areas of interest for BAC to support 

the national employment creation drive. This year BAC partnered with 

the Ministry of Youth and Economic Empowerment to train forty-five 

Youth Development Fund beneficiaries for a variety of funded projects in 

the North East District on the basics of business management, customer 

service and leadership. Imparting the skills and knowledge on these 

youth will go a long way in building and managing sustainable business 

start-ups. It is our believe that these will in effect blossom into enterprises 

that can create employment for other unemployed youth.  

The second episode of the Investment Battlefield Student Start-

Up Competition which promotes a culture of entrepreneurship and 

innovation among BAC students was held in partnership with Botswana 

Investment and Trade Centre (BITC). The top five finalists’ students had 

the chance to pitch their business proposals at the Global Expo to a 

panel of entrepreneurs, business experts and angel investors. 

The first winner was Ms Rethabile Moikabi, a second year Chartered 
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Institute of Procurement and Supply (CIPS) student with her Waste 

Management business idea and received P25, 000.00 seed fund. Mr 

Leano Lephalo is a first year BA (Hons.) Business Management student 

who is the first runner up with his Ice Manufacturing business idea and 

won P15, 000.00 seed capital. Mr Tavonga Muchuchuti completed his 

BA (Hons) International Finance and Banking won second runner up 

position for the 2019 competition with his Fintech idea.

The International Hospitality and Tourism Management students and 

some lecturers at the Francistown Gerald campus jointly hosted the 

Nyangabwe Cultural Hill 2019 Festival with Tjilenje Tje Ngwao Cultural 

Group. In addition, the team also contributed to the organising, planning 

and logistics of launching the Nyangabwe Hill Arts HUB. A centre which 

supports local artists to exhibit and sell their artifacts and products.  

To promote life-long learning and academic progression, BAC 

in collaboration with its partner universities have started offering 

postgraduate scholarships to best overall performing students to pursue 

masters’ degree programs offered in partnership with each university. The 

maiden scholarships offered in partnership with the University of Derby 

and Sheffield Hallam University started with the Class of 2019, while the 

scholarship with the University of Sunderland was being awarded for the 

3rd consecutive year. 

Media relations were strengthened leading to more positive mentions, 

increased PR Value across various media for advertisements, editorials 

and events coverage throughout the year. As part of rewarding the 

good media coverage and to enhance the partnerships, we successfully 

hosted a financial and business reporting training for twenty-three media 

practitioners to improve their finance and business reporting and writing 

skills. Participants of the training included representation from print, 

radio and television. 

3. Sustainability through expansion into new markets 
BAC is expanding into new markets to diversify funding and 

sponsorsphips and to ensure the institution is sustainable. The Forth 

Industrial revolution is therefore an opportunity for BAC to expand into 

these markets through technology for example Blended and Online 

Learning.

 

The College recorded a surplus of P36.2 million during this period, 

a reduction of P5.0million or 12% when compared to prior year. The 

reduction is attributed to the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic towards 

the end of the financial year and all associated expenses to comply 

with health and safety protocols; as well continue to deliver learning. 

Notwithstanding the reduction, the College has remained sustainable. 

The BAC team had an opportunity to present its Online Learning 

product to the Eswatini Institute of Accountants during meetings held 

as a continuation of engagements about collaborating to introduce BAC 

programs in Eswatini. Online learning was also presented at the annual 

Eswatini International Trade Fair where BAC had a stall and registered 

prospective students who were keen on enrolling on our programs.

 

BAC is a CIMA Premium Partner and actively participates in CIMA events 

to contribute to developments in the curriculum, the profession and 

keep up to date with new developments and improvements to CIMA 

as a whole. The annual CGMA conference was held in Cape Town, 

South Africa under the theme; “Finance Transformation In The Digital 

World” with a focus to examine the changing shape of the finance 

function and how finance professionals can prepare for it. Represented 

by the Marketing and the School of Finance and Professional Studies 

teams, BAC used the opportunity to sensitize attendants on the newly 

introduced BAC Online Learning Study Mode for AAT, CIMA, BICA, 

ACCA and CFA.
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According to CIMA, in an increasingly digital world, rapid changes 

in technology are creating challenges for the business models of 

organisations. It is therefore imperative that finance professionals not 

only possess sound technical and financial skills. It was during 2019 

that CIMA updated the syllabus to enhance its relevance to employers, 

ensuring the rigour of the related examinations and aligning the learning 

experience to the real world. 

The Professional Qualification continues to bridge the skills gap of newly 

qualified finance professionals worldwide, meeting the employability 

needs of both business and people. The Digital Mindset professional 

development course enhances competencies and skills through a free 

CPD Bundle based on automation, block chain, cyber security, data 

analytics, and ethics. 

To accommodate the growing number of both student and employees 

across our campuses, the BAC team constantly explores avenues to 

provide services and facilities which are environmentally friendly as we 

gradually migrate into energy saving methods and paperless printing 

which will lead to reduced costs, improved convenience and eco-friendly 

office environment. 

Being part of the Fairgrounds Special Economic Zone Area (SEZA) 

provides multiple opportunities for the institution given our location. 

We therefore have to comply with the future developments and 

environmental protocols as required.

4. Way forward 
As we continue to engage, expand and extend our services to 

communities we also identify areas of growth and improvement. In order 

to facilitate a structured and effcetive Corporate Social Responsibilty 

(CSR) plan, BAC will develop and implement a CSR policy. Themes will 

be set which will define areas of interest that BAC will participate in 

and procedures that will guide on the selection of beneficiaries of BAC 

resources. In additon, different categories of beneciaries will be defined 

to ensure equitable and effective support of the communities. 

BAC is also in the process of establishing a scholarship programme aimed 

at supporting qualifying students from less privileged backgrounds to 

pursue qualifications of their choice within BAC. The scholarship will be 

offered to students who did not qualify for government scholarship but 

qualify for entry into BAC programs. 
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Internal audit provides independent, objective assurance and consulting 

activity designed to add value and improve the College’s operations. 

The department helps the College accomplish its objectives by 

bringing a systematic disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the 

effectiveness of risk management, control and governance processes.

Financial Year 2019-2020 Statistical Highlights
•   64% of the approved Internal Audit Plan was completed

•   4 Management requests audits were conducted

•   Total Follow-up reports during the year were 22

•  Completed audits, advisory services and investigation projects 

 resulted in 10 reports

• Quarterly Board Reports produced

Training
Improvements to data analytics capabilities, the Department in 

collaboration with the ICT department conducted the ACL Starter Pack 

training to conduct the audit more efficiently and effectively. 

SHE UNIT
To appropriately identify, manage and mitigate operational risks within 

the college, a SHE Function has been set up and a substantive SHE 

officer has been hired for the Gaborone campus. Plans are underway to 

recruit a SHE officer for Francistown Campus. The Function’s mandate 

is to ensure a safe and healthy working and learning environment for 

staff and Students in both Francistown and Gaborone Campuses. It also 

oversees the implementation of COVID  19 management across college. 

Through partnership with the Marketing and Communications Unit, 

Awareness on COVID 19 is on an ongoing basis by use of posters and 

articles on the Weekly Chronicles. 

INTERNAL AUDIT
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FINANCIAL PERFOMANCE HIGHLIGHTS

AUDITED FINANCIALS STATEMENTS FOR YEAR ENDED 31st 

MARCH 2020

The Financial performance was for the year end 31st 2020 are reported 

follows;

Statement of Comprehensive Income

• Tuition income achieved in the Financial Year 2020 totalled P212.0m 

 compared with P189.0m from prior year resulting in an increase of 

 P23m or 12% year on year. 

• Other income stood at P42.4m in 2020 against prior year amount 

 of P36.7m.The main increases were realised in hostel income and 

 administration fees.

• Total income achieved in 2020 was P254.4m while P225.8m was 

 achieved the previous year, representing an increase of P28.6m or 

 13% year on year.

• The College realised an increase of P26.4m in administration  costs 

 to an amount of P215.7m in 2020. This was mainly attributable to 

 P26.9m on staff costs and P6.5m for administration costs. 

• A surplus of P36.2m was realised in 2020 while P41.3m was achieved 

 in 2019. This is a reduction of P5.1m or 12% from prior year. 

Statement of Financial Position

• Total assets increased by P55.2m from P210.8m in 2019 to P266.0m 

 in 2020.The upward movement was mainly realized from recognition 

 of lease at P19.7m due to adoption of IFRS 16, leases standard and 

 an increase of P27.9m in current assets in 2020.

Statement of changes in Equity
• The statement of changes in equity realized an increase of P36.2m 

 to P110.2m in the financial year ending 2020. This was mainly caused 

 by the positive contribution from the statement of comprehensive 

 income.

Statement of cash flows
• The College started the year with P80.1m. In the year P17.5m was 

 spent towards investing activities. While P22.8 was earned

 financing activities. This resulted in closing balance of P30.4m.

Statement of Comprehensive Income Highlights (Millions)

Statement of Financial Position (Millions)
129.9m136.0m 110.2m 55.8m 99.9m

25m

50m

75m

100m

125m
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REVENUE
P212.0

Administration Costs
91.3M

STAFF COST
123.1M

ADMINISTRATION COSTS
STAFF COSTS

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
REVENUE

OTHER  INCOME P42.4 M
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Statement of directors’ responsibility

The directors of Botswana University College of Business Science (T/A Botswana 

Accountancy College) (the “College”) are responsible for the annual financial 

statements and all other information presented therewith. Their responsibility 

includes the maintenance of true and fair financial records and the preparation of 

annual financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (“IFRS”).

The College maintains systems of internal control which are designed to provide 

reasonable assurance that the records accurately reflect its transactions and to 

provide protection against serious misuse or loss of the College assets. The 

directors are also responsible for the design, implementation, maintenance and 

monitoring of these systems of internal financial control. Nothing has come to 

the attention of the directors to indicate that any significant breakdown in the 

functioning of these systems has occurred during the year under review.

The going concern basis has been adopted in preparing the annual financial 

statements. The directors have no reason to believe that the College will not be 

a going concern in the foreseeable future based on forecasts and available cash 

resources.

Our external auditors conduct an examination of the financial statements in 

conformity with International Standards on Auditing, which include tests of 

transactions and selective tests of internal accounting controls. Regular meetings 

are held between management and our external auditors to review matters 

relating to internal controls and financial reporting. These independent auditors 

have unrestricted access to the Board.

Approval of annual financial statements

The financial statements set out on pages 88 to 121 were authorised for issue by 

the Board of directors on ___________________     and are signed on its behalf by:

-------------------------------------- ------------------------------

Executive Director Board Chairman

BOTSWANA UNIVERSITY COLLEGE OF BUSINESS SCIENCE
T/A BOTSWANA ACCOUNTANCY COLLEGE
(A company limited by guarantee)
 
STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY AND APPROVAL OF THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

23rd September 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
TO THE MEMBERS OF BOTSWANA UNIVERSITY COLLEGE OF BUSINESS SCIENCE

Our opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of Botswana University College of Business Science (the “College”) 
as at 31 March 2020, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”).

What we have audited
Botswana University College of Business Science’s financial statements set out on pages 88 to 121 comprise:
● the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2020;
● the statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;
● the statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;
● the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and
● the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in 
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Independence
We are independent of the College in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence 
Standards) (IESBA Code) issued by the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants and other independence requirements applicable to performing 
audits of financial statements in Botswana. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code and other ethical requirements 
applicable to performing audits of financial statements in Botswana.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. 
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters. 
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Our audit procedures included the following:

● We evaluated the College’s IFRS 16 adoption accounting policies and 
 implementation thereof against the transition requirements of IFRS  
 16.
● We tested the completeness of the individual leases included in the 
 IFRS 16 calculation, by comparing this to valid lease contracts and 
 current year lease payments recorded in the accounting records. No 
 exceptions were noted.
● We agreed the data inputs, such as the lease period, lease extension 
 options and lease rental included in the IFRS 16 calculation to the in
 formation in the underlying lease agreement and further assessed 
 whether such inputs are treated consistently with the requirements of 
 IFRS 16. Our testing did not identify any material inconsistencies.
● In respect of the remaining lease period at adoption, we have 
 considered various factors such as College’s intention to exercise 
 the extension option, leasehold improvements undertaken, conditions 
 for optional periods compared with market rates and importance of 
 the underlying asset to the College. We found no evidence that 
 contradicts management’s conclusion that the College has an 
 economic incentive to exercise the extension option and therefore 
 accepted the lease term applied in the calculation.
● We compared the College’s incremental borrowing rate to the interest 
 rate that the College was offered by financial institutions for similar 
 funding, adjusted in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 16. No 
 material difference was noted.
● We tested the mathematical accuracy of the IFRS 16 calculation and 
 noted no differences.
● We agreed the value of the right-of-use asset and lease liability 
 from the IFRS 16 calculation to the respective balances recorded in 
 the accounting records without any material differences.
● We evaluated the adoption disclosures against the requirements of 
 IFRS 16.

The College adopted IFRS 16 Leases (“IFRS 16”) for the first time in the 
current financial year.

The College applied IFRS 16 retrospectively from 01 April 2019 but has 
not restated comparatives for the year ended 31 March 2019, as permitted 
under the specific transition provisions in the standard.

At 01 April 2019, the College recognised a right-of-use asset to the value 
of P27.60 million and a lease liability to the value of P27.96 million, and 
derecognised deferred lease obligations to the value of P0.36 million, 
which were previously recognised in accordance with International 
Accounting Standard 17 Leases.

In determining the appropriate amounts and balances to apply in the 
application of IFRS 16, the College used following inputs:
 ● The remaining lease period;
 ● The lease payments; and
 ● The College’s incremental borrowing rate.

Management applied judgement in determining the remaining lease 
period and incremental borrowing rates. The application of IFRS 16 
was considered to be a matter of most significance to the current year 
audit due to the judgements made in determining these inputs, and the 
magnitude of the balances recognised.

Refer to the following disclosures in the financial statements for detail:
 ● Note 2.5 - Leases;
 ● Note 4.4 - Determining the lease term and incremental borrowing                                               
  rate;
 ● Note 12.1 - Right-of-use assets;
 ● Note 12.2 - Lease liability; and
 ● Note 23 - Changes in accounting policy: Adoption of IFRS 16 – 
  Leases.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
Adoption of IFRS 16 - Leases
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Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the document tiled “Botswana University 
College of Business Science T/A Botswana Accountancy College Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2020” which we obtained prior to 
the date of this auditor’s report and the other sections of the document titled “Botswana Accountancy College  Annual Report 2019/20”, which is expected to be 
made available to us after that date. The other information does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether 
the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Board of directors for the financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards and for such internal control as the board determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Board is responsible for assessing the College’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the College or to cease operations, or 
have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements. 
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As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

● Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
 responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
 misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
 misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

● Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 
 the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the College’s internal control. 

● Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors. 

● Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
 uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the College’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that 
 a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
 disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, 
 future events or conditions may cause the College to cease to continue as a going concern. 

● Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements 
 represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the 
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Individual Practicing Member: Kosala Wijesena                       Gaborone
Registration number: 20000110                                   12 October 2020
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    Notes 2020 2019

     P P

      

 

Revenue  5  212,005,710   189,093,878 

Other operating income  6  42,475,316   36,790,609 

      254,481,026   225,884,487 

Administrative expenses    (214,490,029)  (188,039,710)

       

Net impairment (losses) / gains on trade receivables  3.1b  (2,347,593)  3,748,691 

       

Operating surplus  7  37,643,404   41,593,468 

       

Finance income   8  143,537   121,810 

       

Finance costs  8  (1,517,833)  (368,819)

      

Surplus for the year    36,269,108   41,346,459 

       

Other comprehensive income    -    -   

       

Total comprehensive surplus for the year    36,269,108   41,346,459 
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME    
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION   
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    Notes 2020 2019
     P P
ASSETS
  
Non-current assets     
Property, plant and equipment  10  116,157,530   108,602,769 
Intangible assets  11  188,878   297,801 
Right of use assets  12.1  19,739,945   -   
Investment in subsidiary  13  100   -   
      136,086,453   108,900,570 
Current assets     
Trade and other receivables  14  99,497,019   21,828,586 
Cash and cash equivalents  15  30,452,057   80,129,652 
      129,949,076   101,958,238 
Total assets    266,035,529   210,858,808 
       
EQUITY 
Revaluation reserve    34,800,558   35,901,749 
Student refund reserve   488,572  469,820 
Accumulated surplus   74,917,996  37,547,697 
      110,207,126   73,919,266 
LIABILITIES    
 
Non-current liabilities     
Government grants  16  42,162,393  43,030,920 
Borrowings  17  2,968,926  3,810,694
Lease liabilities  12.2  10,711,509   -   
      55,842,828  46,841,614
Current liabilities     
Trade and other payables  18  39,214,053  38,795,402 
Contract liabilities  19  48,755,434   49,611,530 
Government grants  16  868,472  868,417 
Borrowings  17  866,598  822,579
Lease liabilities  12.2  10,281,018   -   
      99,985,575  90,097,928
Total liabilities   155,828,403  136,939,542
Total equity and liabilities    266,035,529  210,858,808
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     Note  Accumulated  Revaluation Student  Total equity 
     surplus          reservere fund reserve 
       reserve
     P P P P 

         

  

Balance at 01 April 2018   (4,430,133)  37,002,940  -   32,572,807  

         

Comprehensive income for the year       

Surplus for the year   41,346,459   -    -    41,346,459

Transactions recorded directly in equity       

Transfer of student refund on revenue   (469,820)  -     469,820    -   

Transfer of excess depreciation on revalued assets   1,101,191  (1,101,191)  -     -    

Balance at 31 March 2019   37,547,697  35,901,749  469,820   73,919,266  

         

Balance at 01 April 2019    37,547,697   35,901,749   469,820   73,919,266  

         

Comprehensive income for the year       

Surplus for the year   36,269,108  -     -     36,269,108  
         

Transactions recorded directly in equity       

Transfer of student refund on revenue    -     -     18,752   18,752  
Transfer of excess depreciation on revalued assets    1,101,191   (1,101,191)  -     -    
Balance at 31 March 2020    74,917,996   34,800,558  488,572   110,207,126  
         

 

BOTSWANA UNIVERSITY COLLEGE OF BUSINESS SCIENCE
T/A BOTSWANA ACCOUNTANCY COLLEGE
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

    Notes 2020 2019
     P P

Cash flows from operating activities     
Cash (used in) / generated from operations  20  (54,746,684)  38,476,725 
Interest paid  8  (272,647)  (368,819)
Net cash (used in) / generated from operating activities   (55,019,331)  38,107,905 
      
 
Cash flows from investing activities     
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  10  (17,709,282)  (16,915,181)
Investment in subsidiary  13  (100)  -   
Purchase of intangible assets  11  (2,097)  (136,115)
Interest received  8  143,537   121,810 
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment    31,871   -   
Net cash used in investing activities    (17,536,071)  (16,929,486)
       
Cash flows from financing activities     
Government grants received during the year  16  23,668,160   24,276,670 
Re-payment of borrowings  17 (797,749)  (835,412)
Finance cost lease  8  (1,245,186)  -   
Lease liability  17  1,252,582   -   
Net cash generated from financing activities   22,877,807  23,441,258 
       
Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents   (49,677,595)  44,619,678 
       
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year    80,129,652   35,509,974 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  12 30,452,057  80,129,652 
      
 

91



1. General information
Botswana University College of Business Science (‘the College’) engages in the 

business of provisioning tuition in a range of internationally recognised business 

programs. The College is a company limited by guarantee and incorporated and 

domiciled in Botswana. The address of its registered office is Deloitte House, Plot 

64518, Fairgrounds, Gaborone, Botswana and the principal place of business 

is Plot 50661, Fairgrounds International, Gaborone, Botswana. The College has 

changed its name from Botswana Accountancy College to Botswana University 

College of Business Science during the year.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial 

statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to 

all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.    

         

2.1     Basis of preparation
The financial statements of the College have been prepared in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). The financial statements 

have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for property, 

plant and equipment measured on the revaluation model, which are carried at 

fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of 

certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its 

judgment in the process of applying the College’s accounting policies. The areas 

involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions 

and estimates are significant to the College’s financial statements are disclosed 

in the “Critical accounting estimates and assumptions” section of the financial 

statements.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated based on historical 

experience and factors, including expectations of future events that are believed 

to be reasonable under the circumstances.

2.2     Changes in accounting policies
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous 

financial year except for the new and amended IFRS and IFRIC interpretations 

effective as of 01 April 2019.

(a) Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards 
effective for the year and adopted by the College

IFRS 16, Leases (Effective 1 January 2019)

This standard replaces the current guidance in IAS 17 and is a far-reaching 

change in accounting by leases in particular. The College has applied the IFRS 

16, lease standard for the first time for its annual reporting period commencing 

1 April 2019.

Under IAS 17, leases were required to make a distinction between a finance 

lease (on balance sheet) and an operating lease (off-balance sheet). IFRS 16 now 

requires leases to recognize a lease liability reflecting future lease payments and 

a ‘right-of-use asset’ for virtually all lease contracts. The IASB has included an 

optional exemption can only be applied by leases.

For lessors, the accounting stays almost the same. However, as the IASB has 

updated the guidance on the definition of a lease (as well as the guidance on 

the combination and separation of contracts), lessors will also be affected by the 

new standard.

At the very least, the new accounting model for reassess is expected to impact 

negotiations between lessors and lessees. Under IFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, 

a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for 

a period of time in exchange for consideration.
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2.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policies (continued)

a) Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards 
effective for the year and adopted by the College (continued)

IFRS 16 supersedes IAS 17, ‘Leases’, IFRIC 4, ‘Determining whether an 

arrangement contains a Lease’, SIC 15, ‘Operating Leases- Incentives’ and SIC 

27, ‘Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal form of a Lease’.

Management has adopted this standard with effect from 01 April 2019. The detail 

notes and policy on this has been given in note 2.5.

(b) New standards and interpretations effective for the year but not 
applicable to the College

Amendments to IFRS 9 – ‘Financial instruments’ on prepayment features with 

negative compensation and modification of financial liabilities (effective 1 

January 2019)

Amendments to IAS 28, ‘Investments in associates and joint ventures’ – long-term 

interests in associates and joint ventures (effective 1 January 2019)

(c) Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards not yet 
effective but applicable to the College

Amendment to IAS 1, ‘Presentation of financial statements’ and IAS 8, ‘Accounting 

policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors’ on the definition of material 

(effective 1 January 2020)

(d) Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards not 
yet effective and not applicable to the College

IFRS 17: Insurance Contracts (effective 1 January 2022)

Amendment to IFRS 3, ‘Business combinations’ (effective 1 January 2020)

2.3   Property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings comprise mainly classrooms, library, offices and hostels. 
Except for land and buildings, all property, plant and equipment are stated at 
cost, less accumulated depreciation and/or accumulated impairment losses, 
if any. Such cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to bringing 
the items to the location and condition necessary for them to be capable of 
operating in the manner intended by management.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount, only when it is 
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to 
the College and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying 
amount of the replaced part is de-recognised. All other repairs and maintenance 
are charged to surplus or deficit during the financial period in which they are 
incurred.

Land and buildings are measured at fair value less accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses recognised after the date of revaluation. Valuations are 
performed with sufficient frequency to ensure that the carrying amount of a 
revalued asset does not differ materially from its fair value.

A revaluation surplus is recorded in other comprehensive income and credited 
to the revaluation reserve in equity. However, to the extent that it reverses a 
revaluation deficit of the same asset previously recognised in income statement, 
the increase is recognised in the income statement. A revaluation deficit is 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income, except to the extent 
that it off-sets an existing surplus on the same asset recognised in the asset 
revaluation reserve.
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2.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.3 Property, plant and quipment (continued)

An annual transfer from the asset revaluation reserve to retained earnings is made 
for the difference between depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount 
of the asset and depreciation based on the asset’s original cost. Additionally, 
accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation date is eliminated against the 
gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued 
amount of the asset. Upon disposal, any revaluation surplus relating to the 
particular asset being sold is transferred to retained earnings. Depreciation is 
provided on a straight-line basis as per the useful lives as follows:
 - Leasehold land and buildings Lesser of the useful life or the 
    remaining lease period
 - Building improvements 6-10 years
 - Office, clinic, catering equipment and furniture 4 - 10 years
 - Computer equipment 3 years
 - Motor vehicles 4 years
 - Educational material (library books) 2 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted 
prospectively if appropriate, at each reporting date.

An item of property, plant and equipment is de-recognised upon disposal or when 
no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or 
loss arising on de-recognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between 
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is recognised 
within ‘Other operating income’ in the statement of comprehensive income.

Properties in the course of construction for rental, administrative purposes 
or for purposes not yet determined are carried at cost less any identified 
impairment loss and classified as work-in-progress. Properties which are held 
for administrative purposes are ready for use or a completion certificate has 
been issued; such properties are transferred to property, plant and equipment. 
Where properties under construction for rental are complete such properties are 
included in investment property. Depreciation is not charged when properties are 
still under construction.

2.4  Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at 

cost. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes are recognised 
as an expense as incurred. Costs that are directly associated with identifiable and 
unique software products controlled by the College that will probably generate 
economic benefits exceeding costs beyond one year are recognised as intangible 
assets. Direct costs include staff costs of the software development team and an 
appropriate portion of relevant overheads.

Expenditure which enhances or extends the performance of computer software 
programmes beyond their original specifications is recognised as a capital 
improvement and added to the original cost of the software.

Intangible assets are amortised over the useful economic life using the straight-
line method, and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the 
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation 
method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the 
end of each reporting period. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected 
pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are 
accounted for by changing the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, 
and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on 
intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in surplus or deficit in the expense 
category consistent with the function of the intangible assets. The estimated 
useful life used for arriving at amortisation rate is:

Software 4 years

2.5 Leases (“IFRS 16”)

Effective 1 April 2019, the College adopted IFRS 16, which specifies how to 
recognise, measure, present, and disclose leases. The standard provides a single 
lessee accounting model, requiring lessees to recognise assets and liabilities for 
all major leases. The College’s accounting policy under IFRS 16 is as follows:

At inception of a contract, the College assesses whether a contract is, or contains, 
a lese based on whether the contract conveys the right to control the use of an 
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. 
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2.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.5 Leases (“IFRS 16”) (continued)

The College has elected to apply the practical expedient to account for its lease 
component. The College recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at 
the lease commencement date.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured based on the initial amount of the lease 
liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement 
date, plus any initial direct costs incurred less any lease incentives received. The 
assets are depreciated to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right of 
use asset or the lease term using the straight-line method as this most closely 
reflects the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits. In 
addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if 
any and adjusted for certain re measurements of the lease liability.

All leases are accounted for by recognising a right-of-use asset and a lease 
liability except for, leases of low value assets and leases with a duration of twelve 
months or less.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments 
that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate 
implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the College’s 
incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the College uses its incremental borrowing 
rate as the discount rate. The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method. It is re-measured when there is a change in future 
lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in 
the College’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual 
value guarantee, or  if the College changes its assessment of whether it will 
exercise a purchase, extension or termination option.

When the lease liability is re-measured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is 
made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in surplus or 
deficit if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.
Variable lease payments are only included in the measurement of the lease liability 
if they depend on an index or rate. In such cases, the initial measurement of the 

lease liability assumes the variable element will remain unchanged throughout 
the lease term.

Other variable lease payments are expensed in the period to which they relate. 
On initial recognition, the carrying value of the lease liability also includes:
(i) Amounts expected to be payable under any residual value guarantee;
(ii) The exercise price of any purchase option granted in favour of the College if 
  it is reasonably certain to assess that option;

Any penalties payable for terminating the lease, if the term of the lease has been 
estimated on the basis of termination option being exercised.

Right-of-use assets are initially measured at the amount of the lease liability, 
reduced for any lease incentives received, and increased for:

(i) Lease payments made at or before commencement of the lease;
(ii) Initial direct costs incurred; and
(iii) The amount of any provision recognised where the College is contractually 
  required to dismantle, remove or restore the leased asset (typically leasehold 
  dilapidations)

Subsequent to initial measurement lease liabilities increase as a result of interest 
charged at a constant rate on the balance outstanding and are reduced for lease 
payments made.

When the College revises its estimate of the term of any lease (because, for 
example, it re-assesses the probability of a lessee extension or termination option 
being exercised), it adjusts the carrying amount of the lease liability to reflect 
the payments to make over the revised term, which are discounted at the same 
discount rate that applied on lease commencement. The carrying value of lease 
liabilities is similarly revised when the variable element of future lease payments 
dependent on a rate or index is revised. In both cases an equivalent adjustment 
is made to the carrying value of the right-of-use asset, with the revised carrying 
amount being amortised over the remaining (revised) lease term.

2.6 Impairment of non-financial assets
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2.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.6 Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example freehold land, are not subject 
to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Property, plant and 
equipment and other non-current assets are assessed annually for indications of 
impairment. If any indication exists, the College estimates the asset’s recoverable 
amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s net selling 
price and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows 
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to 
the asset. In determining fair value less costs to sell, recent market transactions 
are taken into account, if available.

If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. 
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest 
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows. Impairment losses are 
recognised in surplus or deficit in expense categories consistent with the function 
of the impaired asset. An assessment is made at each reporting date whether 
there is any indication that previously recognised impairment losses may no longer 
exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the College estimates the 
asset’s recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed 
only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s 
recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The reversal is 
limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable 
amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net 
of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior 
years. Such reversal is recognised in surplus or deficit.

2.7 Foreign currencies

(a) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the College operates (“the functional 
currency”). The financial statements are presented in Botswana Pula (“the 
presentation currency”), which is the College’s functional currency.

(b) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using 
the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange 
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from 
the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in surplus or deficit.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings and cash and 
cash equivalents are presented in the statement of comprehensive income 
within ‘finance income or cost’. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are 
presented in the statement of comprehensive income within ‘other operating 
income’.

2.8 Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from student customers for services performed 
in the ordinary course of business. They are generally due for settlement within 30 
days and therefore, are all classified as current. Trade receivables are recognised 
initially at the amount of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain 
significant financing components, when they are recognised at fair value. The 
College holds receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash flows 
and therefore measures them subsequently at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less provision for impairment.

Details about the College’s impairment policies and the calculation of the loss 
allowance are provided in note 3.1(b).

2.9 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the statement of financial position at 
cost which approximates fair value. For the purposes of the statement of cash 
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, deposits held at call with 
banks, and other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of 
three months or less and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown in current 
liabilities on the statement of financial position.
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2.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.10  Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the College has a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources 
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount can 
be made. Employee entitlements to annual leave and contractual gratuities are 
recognised when they accrue to employees as a result of services rendered by 
employees up to the reporting date.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will 
be required in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations 
as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with 
respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to 
be required to settle the obligation using a rate that reflects the current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. 
The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest 
expense.

2.11 Contract liabilities

Student tuition fees and hostel rents are recognised in surplus or deficit on the 
basis of the proportion of elapsed tuition time to total course duration at the end 
of the year. The fees and rents relating to the unexpired tuition time are classified 
as contract liabilities in the statement of financial position.

2.12 Employee benefits

Permanent employees are entitled to membership of a personal pensions plan, 
which is administered by an insurance company and both the College and the 
employee contributes the agreed percentage of the basic salary. This pension 
plan is a defined contribution plan. Contract employees are given an option 
to choose whether the payment of gratuity be monthly or end of contract. The 
cost of short-term employee benefits (those payable within 12 months after the 
service is rendered, such as paid vacation leave, sick leave and bonuses) are 

recognised in the period in which the service is rendered and are not discounted. 
The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as 
the employees render services that increase their entitlements or, in the case 
of non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs. The expected cost of 
bonus payments is recognised as an expense when there is a legal or constructive 
obligation to make such payments as a result of past performance. These accruals 
are measured at undiscounted current wage and salary rates.

 2.13  Financial assets and liabilities

(a) Measurement methods
Amortised cost and effective interest rate
The amortised cost is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is 
measured subsequent to initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus 
or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any 
difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount and, for financial 
assets, adjusted for any loss allowance.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or financial 
liability to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset (i.e. its amortised cost 
before any impairment allowance) or to the amortised cost of a financial liability. 
The calculation does not consider expected credit losses and includes transaction 
costs, premiums or discounts and fees and points paid or received that are 
integral to the effective interest rate, such as origination fees.

When the College revises the estimates of future cash flows, the carrying amount 
of the respective financial assets or financial liability is adjusted to reflect the new 
estimate discounted using the original effective interest rate. Any changes are 
recognised in profit or loss.

Interest income
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross 
carrying amount of financial assets and recognised on an accrual basis.

(b) Initial recognition and measurement
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2.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.13 Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(b) Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the entity becomes 
a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. At initial recognition, the 
College measures a financial asset or financial liability at its fair value plus or 
minus, in the case of a financial asset or financial liability not at fair value through 
profit or loss, transaction costs that are incremental and directly attributable to 
the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability, such as fees and 
commissions. Transaction costs of financial assets and financial liabilities carried 
at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in surplus or deficit. Immediately 
after initial recognition, an expected credit loss allowance (“ECL”) is recognised 
for financial assets measured at cost which results in an accounting loss being 
recognised in profit or loss when an asset is newly originated.

When the fair value of financial assets and liabilities differs from the transaction 
price on initial recognition, the College recognises the difference as follows:

(i) When the fair value is evidenced by a quoted price in an active market for an 
  identical asset or liability i.e. a Level 1 input) or based on a valuation technique 
  that uses only data from observable markets, the difference is recognised as 
  a gain or loss.
(ii) In all other cases, the difference is deferred, and the timing of recognition of 
  deferred day one profit or loss is determined individually. It is either amortised 
  over the life of the instrument, deferred until the instrument’s fair value can 
  be determined using market observable inputs, or realised through 
  settlement.

(c) Classification and subsequent measurement

From 1 April 2018, the College has applied IFRS 9 and classifies its financial 
assets as amortised cost. The classification requirements for debt measured at 
amortised cost are described below:

Debt instruments

Debt instruments are those instruments that meet the definition of a financial 
liability from the issuer’s perspective, such as loans, government and corporate 
bonds and trade receivables purchased from clients in factoring arrangements 
without recourse.
Classification and subsequent measurement of debt instruments depend on:
(i) the College’s business model for managing the asset; and
(ii) the cash flow characteristics of the asset
Based on these factors, the College classifies its debt instruments as amortised 
cost as follows:

Amortised cost
Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash 
flows represent solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”), and that are 
not designated at Fair Value through Profit or Loss (“FVPL”), are measured at 
amortised cost. The carrying amount of these assets is adjusted by any expected 
credit loss allowance recognised and measured using the simplified expected 
loss model. Interest income from these financial assets is included in ‘Interest and 
similar income’ using the effective interest rate method.

Business model

The business model reflects how the College manages the assets in order to 
generate cash flows. That is, whether the College’s objective is solely to collect 
the contractual cash flows from the assets or is to collect both the contractual 
cash flows and cash flows arising from the sale of assets. If neither of these is 
applicable (e.g. financial assets are held for trading purposes), then the financial 
assets are classified as part of ‘other’ business model and measured at FVPL. 
Factors considered by the College in determining the business model for a 
group of assets include past experience on how the cash flows for these assets 
were collected, how the asset’s performance is evaluated and reported to key 
management personnel, how risks are assessed and managed and how managers 
are compensated. For example, the liquidity portfolio of assets, which is held by 
the College as part of liquidity management and is generally classified within the 
hold to collect and sell business model. Securities held for trading 
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2.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.13  Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

Business model (continued)

are held principally for the purpose of selling in the near term or are part of a 
portfolio of financial instruments that are managed together and for which there 
is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking. These securities 
are classified in the ‘other’ business model and measured at FVPL.

Solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”)

Where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or to 
collect contractual cash flows and sell, the College assesses whether the financial 
instruments’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest 
(the ‘SPPI test’). In making this assessment, the College considers whether the 
contractual cash flows are consistent with a basic lending arrangement i.e. 
interest includes only consideration for the time value of money, credit risk, other 
basic lending risks and a profit margin that is consistent with a basic lending 
arrangement. Where the contractual terms introduce exposure to risk or volatility 
that are inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement, the related financial asset 
is classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, demand deposits and 
short-term, highly liquid investments readily convertible to cash and subject 
to insignificant risk of loss of value. Cash and cash equivalent are measured at 
amortised cost.

Impairment of financial assets

The College recognises a loss allowance for ECL on trade and other receivables. 
The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to 
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective financial 
instrument. The College always recognises lifetime ECL for trade and other 

receivables. The expected credit losses on these financial assets are estimated 
using the simplified ECL model based on the provision matrix. The ECL model 
takes into account College’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors 
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment 
of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting 
date. Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all 
possible default events over the expected life of a financial instrument except 
for forward looking information. Given the short-term nature of trade and other 
receivables, we do not except the micro-economic factors which are deemed to 
be medium to long term in nature to significantly impact the impairment model.

Derecognition of financial assets

The College derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to 
the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. 
If the College neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the College recognises 
its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have 
to pay. On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration 
received, and receivable is recognised in surplus or deficit.

Financial liabilities

Classification and subsequent measurement
All financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. The effective interest method is a method of calculating 
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over 
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received 
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and 
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or 
(where appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a financial liability.
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2.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.13 Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The College derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the College’s 
obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The difference between 
the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration 
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

2.14  Related party transactions

Related parties comprise the Government of Botswana, Debswana Diamond 
Company (Proprietary) Limited, Botswana Institute of Chartered Accountants who 
have common control, directors and key management.

2.15 Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods and services that have been 
acquired in the ordinary course of business from suppliers. Accounts payables 
are classified as current liabilities, if payment is due within one year or less at the 
reporting date. If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities. Trade payables 
are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method.

2.16 Government grants

Grants from the Government are recognised at their fair values where there is 
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received. Government subvention and 
other revenue grants received are recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income under other operating income when it is committed by Government. A 
Government grant utilised towards capital expenditure or capital grant is credited 
to the grant account as deferred income and equal amounts are amortised and 
credited to surplus or deficit on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful 
lives of the related assets.

2.17 Revenue recognition

The College renders educational tuition services for undergraduate and post 
graduate courses. The courses comprise of short-term and long-term and are 
offered on a semester basis which straddles the financial year and therefore 
resulting in contract liabilities (deferred revenue). The performance obligations 
for the delivery of tuition services is considered to be discharged over time.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the College expects 
to be entitled in a contract with a customer and excludes amounts collected on 
behalf of third parties. Revenue recognition follows a five-step model framework 
as follows:
Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer
Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract
Step 3: Determine the transaction price
Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the 
contract
Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance 
obligation
Hostel income is recognised on an accrual basis under other operating income in 
the statement of comprehensive income.

2.18 Expense recognition

The College incurs the following costs in providing tuition to the students:
(a) Course materials / books such as workbooks and examination kits and other 
tuition materials.
(b) Franchise fees paid for programmes offered jointly with partner universities.
These costs are expensed as they are incurred, through “other administrative 
expenses” in the statement of comprehensive income. Where costs are paid up-
front, and relate to future periods, such costs are classified as pre-payments in the 
statement of financial position at reporting date and released to the statement of 
comprehensive income over the period to which they relate.
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2.  Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.19  Income tax

The College is exempt from income tax under the Second Schedule; Part 1 of the 
Income Tax Act (Cap. 52:01).

2.20 Student refund reserve

The College is regulated by the Botswana Qualifications Authority. The Regulatory 
body issued out a guideline aimed at providing a cushion against enrolled learner 
claims for tuition and exam fee refunds. Based on the historical rate of refund, 
management considered 0.25% of annual tuition fee revenue to be a reasonable 
basis for reserving in the fund. On that basis, the reserve will be re-assessed 
annually to make sure that it does not exceed 0.25% of the tuition fee revenue 
for the period. If the current balance is adequate, any excess provision from the 
prior period will be released back to the accumulated surplus.

3. Financial risk management
3.1   Financial risk factors
The College’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk 
(including currency risk, fair value interest rate risk, cash and price risk), credit risk 
and liquidity risk. The College’s overall risk management programme focuses on 
the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse 
effects on the College’s financial performance. Risk management is carried out 
under policies approved by the Board. The Board provides written principles for 
overall risk management, as well as written policies covering specific areas, such 
as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, use of derivative financial 
instruments, non-derivative financial instruments, and investment of excess 
liquidity.

(a)  Market risk

(i) Foreign currency risk
The College is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency 
exposures, primarily with respect to Great Britain Pound (GBP), South African 
Rands (ZAR) and United States Dollars (USD). Foreign exchange risk arises from 
future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities that are 

denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency. Management 
has set up a policy to require the College to manage its foreign exchange risk 
against functional the currency. To manage foreign exchange risk arising from 
those transactions, the College ensures that it keeps adequate funds in foreign 
currency in its bank accounts. Foreign exchange risk arises when commercial 
transactions or recognised assets or liabilities are denominated in a currency that 
is not the entity’s functional currency.

At 31 March 2020, if the currency had strengthened/weakened by 10% against 
Great Britain Pound with all other variables held constant, surplus for the year 
would have been P363,094 (2019: P124,993) lower/higher, mainly as a result of 
foreign exchange losses/gains on translation of Great Britain Pounds denominated 
payables and cash equivalents.

At 31 March 2020, if the currency had strengthened/weakened by 10% against 
the South African Rands with all other variables held constant, surplus for the year 
would have been P59,392 (2019: P162) lower/higher, mainly as a result of foreign 
exchange losses/gains on translation of South African Rands denominated 
payables and cash equivalents.

At 31 March 2020, if the currency had strengthened/weakened by 10% against 
the US Dollar with all other variables held constant, surplus for the year would 
have been PNIL (2019: P7,415) lower/higher, mainly as a result of foreign 
exchange losses/gains on translation of US Dollar denominated payables and 
cash equivalents.
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3. Financial risk management (continued)
(a) Market risk (continued)

The financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are shown 
below:
       
     2020 2019 
     P P 
Payables   
 
US Dollar  -  81,571

Great Britain Pounds   4,003,088       1,249,893

South African Rands  918,550  1,782  
  
Cash equivalents    
   
Great Britain Pounds  12,565  7,580

(ii) Price risk
The College is not exposed to price risk as it does not have any financial 
instruments that will fluctuate due to changes in market prices.

(iii)	 Cash	flow	and	interest	rate	risk
Fluctuations in interest rates impact on the value of short-term cash investments 
and financing activities, giving rise to interest rate risk. Surplus funds are invested 
in a manner to achieve maximum returns while minimising risk. An increase of 1% 
in the interest rate in short-term cash deposits would increase interest income by 
P304,521 (2019: P67,279).

(b) Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual 
obligations resulting in financial loss to the College. As at 31 March 2020, the 
College’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss due to 
failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties arises from the carrying 

amount of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the statement 
of financial position.

In order to minimise credit risk, the College has adopted a policy of dealing with 
credit worthy counterparties as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss 
from defaults. Credit approvals and other monitoring procedures are also in place 
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. Furthermore, 
the College reviews the recoverable amount of each trade debt on an individual 
basis at the end of each month to ensure that adequate loss allowance is made 
for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors consider that the College’s 
credit risk is significantly reduced. The College does not hold any collateral or 
other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with its financial 
assets. Financial assets of the College, which are subject to credit risk, consist 
mainly of trade and other receivable and cash resources. The College holds cash 
deposits with reputable financial institutions.

The College applies the simplified approach to providing for expected credit 
losses prescribed by IFRS 9, which permits the use of the lifetime expected 
loss provision for all short-term receivables. To measure the expected credit 
losses, short-term receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk 
characteristics and the days past due. The loss allowance as at 31 March 2020 is 
determined as follows:
On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2019 was 
determined as follows for both trade receivables and contract assets:

Expected credit loss default rates at 31 March 2020

Customer grouping Current 1 - 30 Past 
due

31 - 60 
Past due

61 - 90 
Past due

Over 90 
Past due

Government 0.4% 3.8% 11.2% 84.4% 100%

Private students 5.7% 22.3% 57.5% 94.8% 100%

Private companies 2.6% 11.4% 30.9% 91.2% 100%

Staff 2.7% 11.0% 38.3% 80.3% 100%

Parastatals 1.2% 8.0% 25.6% 78.8% 100%
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3. Financial risk management (continued)
(b)  Credit risk (continued)

Expected credit loss default rates at 31 March 2019

Customer grouping Current 1 - 30 Past 
due

31 - 60 
Past due

61 - 90 
Past due

Over 90 
Past due

Government 2% 21% 51% 87% 100%

Private students 4% 26% 60% 97% 100%

Private companies 2% 14% 39% 75% 100%

Staff 25% 41% 75% 90% 100%

Parastatals 0% 0% 7% 90% 100%

 
Analysis of exposure and ECL by ageing

At 31 March 
2020

Current 1 - 30 
Past due

31 - 60 
Past due

61 - 90 
Past due

Over 90 Past 
due

Gross carrying 
amounts (In Pula)

88,494,634 2,287 1,450,889 8,771 17,773,117

ECL (In Pula) 571,334 510 563,683 7,451 17,773,117

At 31 March 
2019

Current 1 - 30 
Past due

31 - 60 
Past due

61 - 90 
Past due

Over 90 Past 
due

Gross carrying 
amounts (In Pula)

4,883,312 107,633 869,569 362,569 15,558,921

ECL (In Pula) 130,728 36,616 503,591 338,647 15,558,921

The exposure amounts at 31 March 2019 were adjusted for amounts due from 
postgraduate students who were invoiced on the basis of a period of more than 
one year to reflect what should have been the amount receivable if the current 
invoicing policy (6 months / semester) had been applied.

Trade and other receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation 
of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include, 
amongst others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the 
College, and a failure to make contractual payments for a period of greater than 
120 days past due.

Gross carrying amounts and expected credit losses by customer groups at 31 
March 2020 were as follows:

Gross carrying amount at 31 March 2020

Cus-
tomer 
group

Current 1 – 30 
Past 
due

31 - 60 
Past due

61 
- 90 
Past 
due

Over 90 
Past due

Total

Govern-
ment

83,668,294           -   511,729 8,000    439,683 84,627,706 

Private 
students

  4,145,453  2,287  823,610             
-   

 16,293,943 21,265,293 

Private 
compa-
nies

  633,645         -      32,662      771   850,688    1,517,766 

Staff         11,332           -        7,888 -        22,000        41,220 

Para-
statals

        35,910          -     75,000    -      166,803       277,713 

Total 88,494,634 2,287 1,450,889 8,771 17,773,117 107,729,698

Expected Credit Loss (ECL) Allowance at 31 March 2020

Custom-
er group

Current 1 – 30 
Past 
due

31 - 60 
Past due

61 - 90 
Past 
due

Over 90 
Past due

Total

Govern-
ment

     314,566     -     57,532  6,748      439,683   818,529 

Private 
students

     239,245      510 473,834         -   16,293,943  17,007,532 

Private 
compa-
nies

       16,795            -      10,095      703      850,688 878,281 

Staff             306            -        3,018            -          22,000        25,324 

Para-
statals

            422            -        19,204            -         166,803     186,429 

Total 571,334 510 563,683 7,451 17,773,116 18,916,095
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3. Financial risk management (continued)
(b)  Credit risk (continued)

Impairment losses on trade receivables and contract assets are presented as net 
impairment losses within operating surplus. Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously written off are credited against the same line item.

The closing loss allowances for trade receivables as at 31 March 2020 reconciled 
to the opening loss allowances as follows:

    2020 2019
    P  P
Opening loss allowance   16,568,503        20,317,194 
Increase / (decrease) in loss allowance   2,347,592        (3,748,691)
Closing loss allowance   18,916,095        16,568,503 

Maximum exposure
Financial assets with the maximum exposure to credit risk at the year-end were 
as follows:
    2020 2019
    P  P
Trade Receivables – Related parties   84,650,196         4,995,546 
Trade Receivables – Others   23,079,502       24,449,689 
Other Receivables   2,874,594         1,338,524 
Less: Loss allowance (IFRS 9)   (18,916,095)   (16,568,503)

Net trade and other receivables   91,688,197       14,215,256

For purposes of measuring the ECL, trade receivables have been segmented 
by customer type to reflect similar credit risk. The impairment allowance has 
increased by P7,112,634 on 1 April 2018 as result of adopting IFRS 9. The 
increase reflects a high probability of default on the basis of historical credit risk 
information across all customer profiles. In the short-term, we do not expect the 
macro-economic factors such as the GDP to affect expected default rates and 
consequently all default rates applied in the calculation of expected credit losses 
are based historical credit risk information.

     2020 2019
Cash and Cash Equivalents  P P
Absa Bank of Botswana Limited  17,206,554  76,161,703 
Stanbic Bank Botswana Limited  10,969,713     2,164,146 
African Alliance Botswana Management Company   1,858,726      1,798,804
(Proprietary) Limited   
First National Bank Botswana Limited  417,064  5,000 
Total amount exposed to credit risk   30,452,057  80,129,652 

Under IFRS 9, these financial assets are measured at amortised cost because they 
satisfy the solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) and business model 
tests for classification as amortised cost. Cash and cash equivalents are subject to 
impairment under IFRS 9.

The College has elected to the apply the simplified approach for impairment 
of cash and cash equivalents because the lifespan of these assets is less 
than 12 months. The College has adopted the provision matrix contained in 
implementation guidance to IFRS 9 as its impairment methodology.

Historical default rates on deposits held in banks is NIL. The review of the GDP 
to determine forward looking macro-economic factors does not suggest possible 
defaults on bank deposits and consequently no provision has been raised on 
adoption of IFRS 9 and at the year end.

(c) Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash, and 
the availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit 
facilities. Management monitors rolling forecasts of the College liquidity reserves 
(comprising of cash and cash equivalents – note 15) on the basis of expected cash 
flow. This is generally carried-out by management in accordance with practice and 
limits set by the Board. The table below analyses the College’s financial liabilities 
into relevant maturity periods based on the remaining period at the statement of 
financial position date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in 
the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows:
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3. Financial risk management (continued)
3.1   Financial risk factors (continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (continued)

     2020 2019
      P        P
Less than 1 year    
Trade and other payables (excluding non-financial   24,139,357    18,046,225 
liabilities)   
Lease liabilities  11,126,285 -
Borrowings  1,090,056      1,090,056 
     36,355,698    19,136,281 

Between 2 to 5 years    
Lease liabilities  11,832,479 -
Borrowings  3,270,168  4,360,224 
     15,102,647    4,360,224

(d) Fair value hierarchy

This section explains the judgements and estimates made in determining the 
fair values of the financial instruments that are recognised and measured at fair 
value in the financial statements. To provide an indication about the reliability of 
the inputs used in determining fair value, the College has classified its financial 
instruments into the three levels prescribed under the accounting standards - 
IFRS 13.

Quoted market prices - Level 1
Assets and liabilities are classified as Level 1 if their value is observable in an 
active market. Such instruments are valued by reference to unadjusted quoted 
prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets where the quoted price is 
readily available, and the price represents actual and regularly occurring market 
transactions. An active market is one in which transactions occur with sufficient 
volume and frequency to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.

Valuation technique using observable inputs - Level 2
Assets and liabilities classified as Level 2 are valued using models whose inputs 
are observable in an active market either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly 
(that is, derived from prices).

Valuation technique using significant and unobservable inputs - Level 3

Assets and liabilities are classified as Level 3 if their valuation incorporates 
significant inputs that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 
inputs). A valuation input is considered observable if it can be directly observed 
from transactions in an active market, or if there is compelling external evidence 
demonstrating an executable exit price.

The College considers relevant and observable market prices in its valuations 
where possible.

At 31 March 2020, the College had borrowings carried at fair value amounting to 
P3,835,524 (2019: P 4,633,273) classified under level 2.

The fair value of borrowings approximates their carrying amount as the impact of 
discounting is not significant.

(e)  Capital risk management

The College is a company limited by guarantee. The College is supported by its 
stakeholders and the Government of Botswana. The College’s objective when 
managing capital is to safeguard the ability to continue as a going-concern in 
order to provide returns and benefits for stakeholders and to maintain an optimal 
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The College makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The 
resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual 
results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial year are discussed below.
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4.  Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

4.1   Useful lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment

The College annually assesses the appropriateness of the useful life and residual 
value estimates. The estimated residual values of the property, plant and 
equipment have been determined by the College’s directors based on their 
knowledge of the industry.

4.2   Measurement of the expected credit loss allowance

The measurement of the expected credit loss allowance for financial assets 
measured at amortised cost is an area that requires the use of complex models 
and significant assumptions about future economic conditions and credit 
behaviour (e.g. the likelihood of customers defaulting and the resulting losses).
A number of significant judgements are also required in applying the accounting 
requirements for measuring ECL, such as:

(i)  Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of ECL;
(ii)  Establishing groups of similar financial assets for the purposes of measuring 
       ECL.

4.3   Determining whether bundled services are distinct performance 
       obligations or not

Contracts with customers often include promises to deliver multiple services. 
Determining whether such bundled services are considered;
(i)  distinct performance obligations that should be separately recognised, or
(ii)  non-distinct and therefore should be combined with another good or service 
   and recognised as a combined unit accounting may require significant 
       judgment.

4.4 Determining the lease term and the incremental borrowing rate

The College adopted IFRS 16 - Leases (“IFRS16”) for the first time in the current 
financial year. The College recognised right-of-use assets and a corresponding 

liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use by the College.  
Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present 
value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value determined using the 
following observable data inputs: the remaining lease period, the lease payments 
and College’s borrowing rate with First National Bank of Botswana Limited.

In determining the remaining lease period, management considers all facts and 
circumstances that create an economic incentive to exercise an extension option. 
Among others management’s intention of renewal, amounts already spent on 
leasehold improvements, conditions attached renewal, particularly rental being 
market rent for renewal period will be based on market rates, location and 
underlying importance of the property for the College etc have been taken into 
account. Extension options are only included in the lease term, if the lease is 
reasonably certain to be extended.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If 
that rate cannot be readily determined, which is generally the case, the College’s 
incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the College would have 
to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the 
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms, security 
and conditions.
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        2020 2019
        P P
5 Revenue      
  Tuition fees      
  Undergraduate programmes       131,841,375   119,110,358 
  Professional and corporate learning programmes      65,261,596   55,686,507 
  Post-graduate programmes       14,902,739   14,297,013 
         212,005,710   189,093,878 
       
6 Other operating income      
  Hostel income       10,617,456   8,435,058 
  Sundry income       8,044,209   3,359,128 
   Sundry income / (losses)     29,477   (39,927)
   Research Income      39,836   89,973 
   Exam re-sits and revision materials     1,300   -   
   Promotional items and other income   7,469,102   3,309,083 
   Bad debt recovery     504,494   -   
  Foreign exchange losses       (722,981)  (148,720)
  Amortisation of government grants (note 16)      868,472   868,473 
  Government subvention (note 16)       23,668,160   24,276,670 
         42,475,316   36,790,609 
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7  Operating surplus      
  Operating surplus is stated after charging following:      
  
  Expenses by nature      
  Depreciation on property, plant and equipment (note 10)     10,154,521   8,739,376 
   - owned assets      6,385,551   4,418,360 
   - leased assets      3,768,970   4,321,016 
  Depreciation relating to right-of-use assets      7,864,687   -   
  Amortisation of intangible assets       111,020   161,105 
  Impairment of intangible assets       -     167,160 
  Operating lease rentals       76,816   7,327,956 
  Bad debt write off       1,791   6,065,532 
  Auditors’ remuneration       442,449   315,375 
  Staff costs (note 7.1)       123,156,240   101,982,384 
  Board expenses       471,273   354,739 
  Repairs and maintenance - property, plant and equipment    1,872,729   2,604,127 
  Electricity and water expenses       6,166,921   6,139,830 
  Advertising and promotion       6,223,789   5,038,695 
  Catering and cleaning expenses       4,045,225   3,050,866 
  Cost of educational materials       994,666   745,438 
  Partner university and accreditation fees     19,246,435   18,318,820 
  Printing and stationery expenses       3,342,273   3,510,452 
  Internet services       4,586,310   4,869,355 
  Software license fees and IT consumables     9,794,180   5,709,392 
  Bank charges       630,201   500,948 
  Subscriptions and publications       1,143,991   661,589 
  Graduation expenses       965,724   822,826 
  Consultancy fees       1,803,071   945,603 
  Student welfare expenses       1,291,597   928,575 
  Rates and property valuation       907,803   1,425,029 
  Security expenses       2,464,163   2,148,587 
  Insurance       1,153,288   795,814 
  Travel and accommodation       2,239,962   2,369,553 
  Telephone and Faxes       1,694,753   875,648 
  Other expenses       1,644,151   1,464,937 
  Total staff and other administrative expenses      214,490,029   188,039,710
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        2020 2019
        P P
7.1 Staff costs      
  Salary       86,680,764   69,690,524 
  Gratuity        17,953,576   12,970,938 
  Provision for bonus       -     5,681,192 
  Pensions (administration staff pensions)      1,842,626   939,347 
  Training and other related costs       7,397,408   5,766,056 
  Leave pay (note 18.1)       2,460,839   1,992,297 
  Medical aid and general staff welfare       6,821,027   4,942,029 
         123,156,240   101,982,384 
  Included in above;      
  Senior management remuneration (note 22)      15,763,301   12,789,127 
       
  Average number of persons employed over the year      
  - Full time       240   223 
  - Part time       57   76 
        297  299

8. Finance cost / income      
  Finance income      
  Interest income- bank deposits       143,537   121,812 
         143,537   121,812 
  Finance costs      
  Interest expense - mortgage loans       272,647   327,996 
  Interest on lease liabilities (note 12.2)       1,245,186   -   
  Overdraft interest       -     40,823 
         1,517,833   368,819 
       
  Net finance cost       (1,374,296)  (247,007)
       
9. Income tax      
  The College is exempt from income tax in terms of the Second Schedule of Part 1 of the Income Tax Act (Cap 52:01).   
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10.1 Property, plant and equipment (continued)       
  The College acquired a plot of land (38352) in Francistown for P7,650,000 in 2015 financed through ‘borrowings from First National Bank of Botswana Limited 
  (note 17). The borrowing is secured against first ‘covering mortgage ‘bond for P10million over Lots 38353, 38354, 38355, 38356, 38361, 38362, 38363 and 
  ‘38364 Francistown ‘(consolidated). The carrying value of the collateral security amounts to P7,650,000.    
    
  The College acquired a property situated at Plot 61922, Gaborone from Commercial Holdings (Proprietary) Ltd on 15th August 2006 and plans to develop a 
  multi storey building to accommodate  office and learning space at a cost of P96,695,400 through an establishment of a Special Vehicle. The College incorporated 
  a wholly-owned subsidiary company in February 2020 for this purpose (note 13).     
   
  Details of leasehold assets held under long-term government leases and operating leases included under property, plant and equipment are as follows:

       Building  Land and
       improvements buildings Total
        P   P   P 
  Year ended 31 March 2020       
 
  Net book value at beginning of year    13,446,356  82,914,438   96,360,794 
  Additions      7,800,142   -     7,800,142 
  Depreciation      (2,244,364)  (1,524,606)  (3,768,970)
  Net book value at end of year      19,002,134  81,389,832   100,391,966 
        
  As at 31 March 2020        
  Cost / revaluation      31,054,268  85,725,700   116,779,968 
  Accumulated depreciation      (12,052,134)  (4,335,868)  (16,388,002)
  Net book value at end of year      19,002,134  81,389,832   100,391,966 
        
  Year ended 31 March 2019        
  Net book value at beginning of year      9,769,428   85,425,580   95,195,008 
  Additions      5,486,802   -     5,486,802 
  Depreciation      (1,809,874)  (2,511,142)  (4,321,016)
  Net book value at end of year      13,446,356   82,914,438   96,360,794 
        
  As at 31 March 2019        
  Cost      23,254,126   85,725,700   108,979,826 
  Accumulated depreciation      (9,807,770)  (2,811,262)  (12,619,032)
  Net book value at end of year      13,446,356   82,914,438   96,360,794 
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10.1 Property, plant and equipment (continued)      
  The independent valuation was performed by Mr. Brian Sokesi and Mr. Elijah Gwamulumba of Willy Kathurima Associated (Pty) Ltd (Willy Kathurima) for the 
  year ended 31 March 2018. Mr. Brian Sokesi and Mr. Elijah Gwamulumba hold recognised relevant professional qualifications and they are members of the Real 
  Estate Institute of Botswana (REIB) and registered valuers under the Real Estate Advisory Council (REAC). The properties were valued in accordance with 
  guidance notes prepared by Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) and International Valuation Standards for open market basis using sales comparable 
  and income capitalisation approach.      
      
  The College’s policy is to perform a full valuation once in every three years.     
  The carrying amount of land and buildings that were revalued, had they been carried at cost, is as follows: 

  Land and buildings      
        2020 2019
        P P
  At cost       58,946,012   58,946,012 
  Accumulated depreciation       (11,859,102)  (10,757,911)
         47,086,910   48,188,101 
       
 11 Intangible assets      
       Capital work-
       in-progress Software Total
       P P P
  Year ended 31 March 2020       
  Net book value at beginning of year      -     297,801   297,801 
  Additions      -     2,097   2,097 
  Amortisation charge      -     (111,020)  (111,020)
  Net book value at end of the year      -    188,878   188,878 
       
  As at 31 March 2020      
  Cost      -    4,562,926   4,562,926 
  Accumulated amortisation      -    (4,374,048)  (4,374,048)
  Net book value at 31 March 2020      -   188,878   188,878 
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 11 Intangible assets (continued) 
       Capital work-
       in-progress Software Total
       P P P
 Year ended 31 March 2019      
  Net book value at beginning of year      167,160   322,791   489,951 
  Additions      -  136,115   136,115 
  Impairment      (167,160)  -   (167,160)
  Amortisation charge      -   (161,105)  (161,105)
  Net book value at end of the year      -  297,801   297,801 
       
  As at 31 March 2019      
  Cost      -  4,560,829   4,560,829 
  Accumulated amortisation      -   (4,263,028)  (4,263,028)
  Net book value at 31 March 2019      -   297,801   297,801 
       
  As at 31 March 2018      
  Cost      167,160  4,424,714   4,591,874 
  Accumulated amortisation      -   (4,101,923)  (4,101,923)
  Net book value at 31 March 2018      167,160   322,791   489,951 

         
        2020 2019 
        P P 
 12 Leases        
 12.1 Right-of-use assets        
  Initial recognition       27,959,719  -    
  Offset of deferred lease obligation       (355,087) -    
  Depreciation charge for the year       (7,864,687)  -    
  Balance at end of the year       19,739,945  -    
   
        
12.2 Lease liabilities       
  Initial recognition       27,959,719  -   
  Recognition of interest build-up (Note 8)      1,245,186   -   
  Lease rent payments       (8,212,378)  -   
  Balance at end of the year       20,992,527   -   
    
          
     
        

113



12.2 Lease liabilities (continued) 
        2020 2019
 Measurement of lease liabilities      P P
  Operating lease commitments disclosed as at 31 March 2019    7,327,956   -   
        
  Discounted using incremental borrowing rate of at the date of initial application    9,745,451   -   
  Add: adjustments as a result of extension option considered     18,214,268   -   
  Lease liability recognised as at 1 April 2019      27,959,719   -   
        
  Lease liabilities - maturity analysis       
  Current - within 12 months       10,281,018   -   
  Non - current - over 12 months       10,711,509   -   
         20,992,527   -   
  Amounts recognised in statement of comprehensive income       
  - Expense relating to leases of low-value assets that are not shown above as short-
          term leases (included in administrative expenses)      76,816   -   
  - Interest expense (included in finance cost) (Note 8)      1,245,186   -   
  - Depreciation relating to right-of-use assets      7,864,687   -   
         9,186,689   -   
        
13 Investment in subsidiary      
  Campus Investment Partners (Proprietary) Limited     100  -   
  The College incorporated the above company in February 2020 as a wholly-owned subsidiary in order to 
  develop plot 61922. The company has not commenced its commercial operations as at the year-end.     
  
14 Trade and other receivables       
  Trade receivables       107,729,698   29,445,235 
  Prepaid expenses       7,808,822  7,613,330
  Other receivables       2,874,594  1,338,524
  Less: Loss allowance (note 3.1(b))       (18,916,095)  (16,568,503)
  Net trade and other receivables        99,497,019  21,828,586
        
  Due to the short-term nature of the current receivables, their carrying amount is considered to be the same as their fair value.    
  Information about the impairment of trade receivables and the College’s exposure to credit risk, foreign currency risk and interest rate risk can be found in note 
  3.1(b).       
        
  Out of the total trade receivable of P107,729,698 (2019: P29,445,235) an amount of P84,569,407 (2019: P4,984,956) were in respect of recoverable from related 
  parties (note 22).       
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        2020 2019
        P P
15 Cash and cash equivalents     
  Cash at bank - current account        123,009   196,441 
                      - call accounts       28,470,322   78,134,407 
  Short-term deposits       1,858,726   1,798,804 
         30,452,057   80,129,652 
  Short-term deposits are usually made for a maximum period of three months. 
  The fair value of cash and short-term deposits is P30,452,057 (2019: P80,129,652).    
 
  The average effective interest rates on deposits were as follows:     
  Bank balance held in Great Britain Pounds: 2.5% (2019: 3%).     
  Other short-term deposits: 0.26% (2019: 0.25%).     
      
  Cash, cash equivalents include the following for the purposes of the statement of cash flows:    
  Cash and cash equivalents       30,452,057   80,129,652 
      
  Cash and cash equivalents denominated in foreign currencies are as follows:     
  Great Britain Pounds (GBP 831.83) (2019: GBP 524.57)      12,565   7,580 
      
  The College has an overdraft facility of P461,000 with Absa Bank of Botswana 
  Limited which is secured by call deposit account number 02/9046999.     
      
 16 Government grants     
  Year ended 31 March     
  Balance at beginning of year       43,899,337   44,767,810 
  Government subvention received during the year      23,668,160   24,276,670 
  Government grant income recognised during the year      (868,472)  (868,473)
  Government subvention income recognised during the year     (23,668,160)  (24,276,670)
  Balance at end of year       43,030,865  43,899,337 
      
  Non-current liability portion       42,162,393   43,030,920 
  Current liability portion       868,472   868,417 
         43,030,865   43,899,337 
  As at 31 March     
  Cost       132,575,172   108,907,012 
  Accumulated amortisation        (89,544,307)  (65,007,675)
         43,030,865   43,899,337 
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        2020 2019 
        P P 
           
17 Borrowings         
  Balance at beginning of year       4,633,273   5,468,685  
  Capital re-payments during the year       (797,749)  (835,412) 
  Balance at end of year       3,835,524   4,633,273  
           
  Non-current liability portion       2,968,926   3,810,694  
  Current liability portion      866,598   822,579  
         3,835,524   4,633,273  
           
  The average term of the borrowing is 10 years with an average effective borrowing rate of 6.5% (2019: 6.5%).
   Interest rate is linked to the prime and the repayment vary according to any changes in the interest rates. 
  The loan is secured by land acquired in 2015 (Note 9.1).       
   
18 Trade and other payables         
  Trade payables      14,354,984   6,918,269  
  Refund payable to Government (Note 22)      465,620   4,087,040  
  Accrual of staff related costs (Note 18.1)     12,850,583   14,142,544  
  Accrual of franchise fees and education material costs      4,169,820   3,522,810  
  Other accrued expenses       7,373,046   10,124,739  
         39,214,053   38,795,402  
  
  Due to the short-term nature of the trade payables, their carrying amount is considered to be the same as their fair value.    
      
  Trade payables denominated in foreign currencies are as follows:       
  Great Britain Pounds (GBP 257,798.89) (2019: GBP 86,620.00)    4,003,088   1,249,893  
  South African Rands (ZAR 1,348,431.86) (2019: ZAR 2,297.29)    945,074   1,781  
  United States Dollar (USD NIL) (2019: USD 7,423)      -     81,571  
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18 Trade and other payables (continued)
18.1 Accrual of staff related costs        
      Leave pay Bonus Gratuity Total 
      P P P p 
  Year ended 31 March 2020        
  Balance at beginning of year     3,921,303   5,901,430   4,319,811   14,142,544
  Provision for the year     2,460,839   -     6,792,716  9,253,555  
  Payments made during the year     (1,370,274)  (5,581,364)  (3,593,878) (10,545,516) 
  Balance at end of year     5,011,868  320,066   7,518,649  12,850,583  
          
  Year ended 31 March 2019        
  Balance at beginning of year     3,169,724   220,238   2,992,308   6,382,270  
  Provision for the year     1,992,298   5,681,192   4,493,694  12,167,184  
  Payments made during the year     (1,240,719)  -     (3,166,191) 4,406,910) 
  Balance at end of year     3,921,303   5,901,430   4,319,811   14,142,544

        2020 2019
        P  P 
19 Contract liabilities        
  Tuition fees      48,755,434  48,023,400 
  Hostel income       -     1,588,130 
         48,755,434   49,611,530 
          
20 Cash flows from operating activities       
  Operating surplus      37,643,404   41,593,468 
  Adjustments for:        
  Depreciation on property, plant and equipment (Note 10)     10,154,521   8,739,376 
  Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 11)      111,020   161,105 
  Impairment of intangible assets (Note 11)      -   167,160 
  Subvention from Government (Note 16)      (23,668,160)  (24,276,670)
  Transfer of student refund on revenue       18,752   -   
  Gain on disposal       (31,871)  -   
  Amortisation of government grants (Note 16)      (868,472)  (868,473)
         23,359,194   25,515,966 
  Changes in working capital:        
   - Trade and other receivables       (77,668,433)  4,261,021 
   - Contract liabilities      (856,096)  4,938,604 
   - Trade and other payables        418,651   3,761,134 
  Cash (used in) / generated from operations     (54,746,684)  38,476,725 
         
 
           
  

117



        2020 2019
        P P
21 Analysis of financial instruments      
21.1 Financial instruments by category      
  
  Financial assets      
  Trade and other receivables (gross)*       110,604,292   30,783,759 
  Cash-at-bank       30,452,057   80,129,652 
         141,056,349   110,913,411 
  * Pre-payments are excluded from the trade and other receivables balance as this analysis is 
     required only for financial instruments.      

  Financial liabilities      
  Trade and other payables **       24,139,357   18,046,225 
  Lease liabilities       20,992,527   -   
  Borrowings       4,386,149   5,417,871 
         49,518,033   23,464,096 
  * * Statutory obligations have been excluded from trade and other payables.     
 
  There were no liabilities at fair value, derivatives used for hedging, or available for sale financial instruments as at year end.    
  
21.2 Credit quality of financial assets      
  The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to external 
  credit ratings (if available) or to historical information about counterparty default rates:     
 
      Rating    
  Trade receivables - Government    A2   84,627,706   5,044,980 
  Trade receivables - Other    Not rated   23,101,992   24,400,255 
  Other receivables    Not rated   2,874,594   1,338,524 
         110,604,292   30,783,759 
  Cash-at-bank      
  Absa Bank of Botswana Limited    Not rated   17,206,554   76,161,703 
  Stanbic Bank Botswana Limited    Not rated   10,969,713   2,164,146 
  African Alliance Botswana Management Company (Proprietary) Limited  Not rated   1,858,726   1,798,804 
  First National Bank of Botswana    Not rated   417,064   5,000 
         30,452,057   80,129,652 
  
  None of the financial assets that are fully performing have been renegotiated during the year. There are no credit ratings available for financial institutions in 
  Botswana. The above entities have reported sound financial results and continued compliance with minimum capital adequacy requirements set by the regulator.  
    
       
       

          
 
       

       

BOTSWANA UNIVERSITY COLLEGE OF BUSINESS SCIENCE
T/A BOTSWANA ACCOUNTANCY COLLEGE
(A company limited by guarantee)
 
NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)    
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

118



BOTSWANA UNIVERSITY COLLEGE OF BUSINESS SCIENCE
T/A BOTSWANA ACCOUNTANCY COLLEGE
(A company limited by guarantee)
 
NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)    
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020

        2020 2019
        P P
22 Related party transactions      
  Related parties comprise the Government of Botswana, Debswana Diamond Company (Proprietary) Limited, Botswana Institute 
  of Chartered Accountants who have common control, directors and senior management of the College.    
  
  The following transactions were carried out with related parties during the year:     
  
  Tuition revenue from related parties      
  Government of Botswana       203,389,751   179,325,594 
  Debswana Diamond Company (Proprietary) Limited      53,722   15,750 
  Botswana Institute of Chartered Accountants      46,900   5,700 
         203,490,373   179,347,044 
  Grants receipt from related parties      
  Government of Botswana (note 18)       23,668,160   24,276,670 
       
  Expenses      
  Botswana Institute of Chartered Accountants -       
                  Student membership subscriptions      564,845   487,485 
       
  Remuneration paid to key management      
  Key management includes directors (executive). The compensation paid or payable to key management
  for employee services is as follows:       
  
  Short-term employee benefits - Salaries      15,763,301   12,789,127 
  Bonus provision       -     5,681,192 
         15,763,301   18,470,319 
       
  Directors expenses       471,273   354,739 
       
  The following year end balances arose from transactions with related parties:     
  
  Amounts due from related parties      
  Government of Botswana       84,627,706   4,984,956 
  Botswana Institute of Chartered Accountants      22,490   10,590 
         84,650,196   4,995,546 
  Amounts due to related parties      
  Government of Botswana (note 15)       465,620   4,087,040 
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23 Changes in accounting policies      
  The College adopted IFRS 16, Leases (“IFRS 16”) with effect from 1 April 2019.     
 
  Adoption of IFRS16      
  IFRS 16 introduced a single, on-balance sheet accounting model for lessees. As a result, the College, as a lessee, recognised right-of-use assets representing its 
  rights to use the underlying assets and lease liabilities representing its obligation to make lease payments. After the adoption of IFRS 16, the College recognised 
  a depreciation expense on the right-of-use assets and an interest expense accruing on the lease liabilities and no longer recognised an operating lease expense 
  for these leases. Cash generated from operations increased as lease costs are no longer included in this category. Interest paid increased, as it includes the 
  interest portion of the lease liability payments and the capital portion of lease liability repayments is included in cash used in financing activities.  
    
  The College applied IFRS 16 retrospectively from 01 April 2019, but has not restated comparatives for the year ended 31 March 2019, as permitted under the 
  specific transition provisions in the standard.      
       
  Transition      
  At transition, for leases classified as operating leases under IAS 17, lease liabilities were measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, 
  discounted at the  College’s incremental borrowing rate, for the remaining lease terms, as at 1 April 2019. Right-of-use assets were measured at an amount equal 
  to the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments.     
      
  The College used the following practical expedients as permitted by the standard, when applying IFRS 16 to leases previously classified as operating leases 
  under IAS 17:       
 
  - Applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics.    
  - Accounted for leases with a remaining lease term of less than 12 months as at 1 April 2019 as short-term leases.   
  - Excluded initial direct costs from measuring the right-of-use asset at the date of initial application.    
  - Used hindsight when determining the lease term if the contract contains options to extend or terminate the lease.   
  - Relied on previous assessments on whether leases are onerous contracts as opposed to performing an impairment review on 1 January 2019”  
    
  The College has also elected not to reassess whether a contract is, or contains a lease, at the date of initial application. Instead, for contracts entered into before 
  the transition date, the College relied on its assessment made applying IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease (IFRIC 4).  
    
  When measuring lease liabilities for leases that were classified as operating leases, the College discounted lease payments using its incremental borrowing rate 
  at 1 April 2019. The weighted average rate applied is 6.50%.     
 
       
  Impact for the year      
  Refer to note 12 for the impact of IFRS 16 on the financial results for the year ended 31 March 2020 and on the statement of financial position as at 31 March 
  2020.        
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24 Capital commitments      
  The College had capital commitments of P8,617,936 relating to student laptops from Copiers Botswana (Pty) Ltd as at 31 March 2020 (2019: NIL).

25 Contingent liabilities      
25.1 Litigation claims      
  The College is a defendant to a case outstanding in the court of Botswana. While liability is not admitted and that there are no monetary claims in the matter.  
  The Plaintiff alleges that the College has unlawfully occupied a multi residential family accommodation and using it as student hostels.   
   
25.2 Bank guarantees      
  The College has issued a bank guarantee in the ordinary course of business to Botswana Power Corporation, to the amount of P26,650 (2019: P26,650).  
  The directors confirm that there are no other material contingent liabilities at year end, except disclosed above.    
  
26 Assets pledged as security      
  The carrying amount of assets pledged as security for current and non-current borrowings are:     
 
       
        2020 2019
        P P
  Non-current      
  Freehold land - Plot 38352 (Note 9)      2,167,427 2,167,427
       
27 Events occurring after the reporting date      
  Subsequent to 31 December 2019, the World Health Organisation declared COVID-19 a global pandemic. As a result of the spread of the COVID-19 coronavirus, 
  globally, regionally and domestically, economic uncertainties have arisen which are likely to negatively impact the operations of the College.  
         
  The COVID-19 pandemic has adversely impacted the College calendar due to the closure of the College. Subsequently, the College has to comply with health  
  regulations as guided by the authorities that have introduced changes to the operations. In response, management is offering blended learning to support the 
  students.      
       
  The management is satisfied that the College has access to adequate cash facilities and will be able to extend the current payment holiday, if required. 
  Accordingly, these financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis.    
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BOTSWANA UNIVERSITY COLLEGE OF BUSINESS SCIENCE
(trading as Botswana Accountancy College)

NOTICE OF THE 2020 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
Notice is hereby given that the 2020 Annual General Meeting of the Botswana University College of Business Science will be held virtually on MS TEAMS on 
Wednesday 16 December 2020 at 1400hrs, to transact on the following business;

AGENDA
1. To read the notice convening the meeting.
2. To confirm that the meeting is duly constituted.
3. To receive and adopt the Audited Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2020, together with the report of the Auditors.
4. To approve the remuneration of the Directors for the year ended 31 March 2020 as reported on the Financial Statements at Page 103 of the Annual Report.
5. To confirm the below stated as a new Director of the Botswana University College of Business Science.

- Mr Maemo S D Mesotlo

6. To confirm the following as duly constituted members of the Board of Directors of the Botswana University College of Business Science.

- Dr Shabani Ndzinge
- Mrs Emmah A Peloetletse
- Mr Conductor P Masena
- Mr Johannes Motshegare
- Mr Franciscah S Molefe
- Mr Moshe C Z Libengo
- Mrs Cecilia V Ramatlapeng
- Ms Tebogo Bagopi
- Ms Serty Leburu

7. To approve the auditor’s remuneration for the 2019/20 audit as reported on the Financial Statements at Page 108 of the Annual Report.
8. To appoint the Auditors for the year 2020/21.
9. To transact such other business as may be transacted at an Annual General Meeting.
10. To close the meeting

Voting and Proxies

A Member entitled to attend and vote may appoint a proxy/representative to attend the meeting and vote for him/her on his/her stead. The instrument appointing the 
proxy must be lodged with the Board Secretary, at the address highlighted below and/or by email to enelyss@bac.ac.bw not less than 48 hours before the meeting;
Plot 50661, Fairgrounds Office Park
Bock D, 2nd Floor Executive Wing

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD
Enelys Shamakumba Board Secretary
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BOTSWANA UNIVERSITY COLLEGE OF BUSINESS SCIENCE
(trading as Botswana Accountancy College)

PROXY FORM

I/We, ……………….. ..................................................................................................................................................................................................................................

(Full Names)

Of . ……………….. ..................................................................................................................................................................................................................................

Address representing the Member and being duly authorized; do hereby appoint

 of. ……………….. ..................................................................................................................................................................................................................................

(Full Names)     (Address)......................................................................................

And failing him …………………………………………................................of   

(Full Names)...........................................................................................................  Address......................................................................................

as my proxy/representative of the Member and to vote on behalf of the Member at the Annual General Meeting of the company to be held on Wednesday 16 

December  2020 and at any adjournment of the meeting

SIGNED AT GABORONE THIS ..... ................ DAY OF DECEMBER 2020

SIGNATURE ......................................................................................................

Position Held.. ..................................................................................................

Company Stamp

Notes to Proxy Form

Members in this context shall refer to each of the Members/Guarantors of the Botswana University College of Business Science t/a Botswana Accountancy College.
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Developer 
Student Clubs

GOOGLE DEVELOPER  STUDENT LEAD
Kesego Mokgosi, BAC 2nd Year Student BSc (Hons) Computer Systems Engineering, 
has been selected by Google to become one of the Google Developer Student Leads.He 
is  the first Motswana to become a  DSC lead and now one of the 5 leads in southern 
Africa from a team of 100. He will be heading to Accra,Ghana for the Developer Student 
Club lead Summit from 12th - 14th September 2019.

Botswana Accountancy College is the first tertiary institution in Botswana to have a DSC 
and participate in Google’s annual DSC Solution Challenge.

More info on DSC: https://developers.google.com/community/dsc/



| Over two decades of transforming lives|

GABORONE CAMPUS
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Gaborone, Botswana

Tel: (+267) 3953 062
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FRANCISTOWN CAMPUS

Plot 31403
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Francistown, Botswana
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